
 

 
 

 
 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 

 

Eastern Area 
Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 8 May 2024 at 6.30pm 
 

in the Council Chamber  Council Offices  
Market Street  Newbury 
 

 

This meeting will be streamed live here: Link to Eastern Area Planning Committee broadcasts  

You can view all streamed Council meetings here: Link to West Berkshire Council - Public 

Meetings  

If members of the public wish to attend the meeting they can do so either remotely or in person. 

Members of the public who wish to attend must notify the Planning Team by no later than 
4.00pm on 7 May 2024 by emailing planningcommittee@westberks.gov.uk.  
 

 

Members Interests 
 

Note: If you consider you may have an interest in any Planning Application included on 

this agenda then please seek early advice from the appropriate officers. 
 

 

Date of despatch of Agenda: Monday, 29 April 2024 

 

Further information for members of the public 
 

Plans and photographs relating to the Planning Applications to be considered at the meeting 

can be viewed by clicking on the link on the front page of the relevant report. 
 

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents referred to 

in Part I reports, please contact the Planning Team on (01635) 519148 or email 
planningcommittee@westberks.gov.uk. 
 

Further information, Planning Applications and Minutes are also available on the Council’s 
website at www.westberks.gov.uk. 
 

Any queries relating to the Committee should be directed to the Democratic Services Team by 
emailing executivecycle@westberks.gov.uk.  

 
 

Scan here to access the public 
documents for this meeting 

Public Document Pack

https://www.westberks.gov.uk/easternareaplanninglive
https://www.westberks.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive
https://www.westberks.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive
mailto:planningcommittee@westberks.gov.uk
mailto:planningcommittee@westberks.gov.uk
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/
mailto:executivecycle@westberks.gov.uk


Agenda - Eastern Area Planning Committee to be held on Wednesday, 8 May 2024 

(continued) 
 

 

 

 

To: Councillors Alan Macro (Chairman), Richard Somner (Vice-Chairman), 
Jeremy Cottam, Paul Kander, Ross Mackinnon, Geoff Mayes, 
Justin Pemberton, Vicky Poole and Clive Taylor 

Substitutes: Councillors Jeff Brooks, Laura Coyle, Lee Dillon, Jane Langford, Biyi Oloko 
and Joanne Stewart 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Part I Page No. 

 
1.    Apologies for absence  

 To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any). 
 

 

2.    Minutes 5 - 30 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of this 
Committee held on 6 March 2024. 

 

 

3.    Declarations of Interest  
 To remind Members of the need to record the existence and nature of any 

personal, disclosable pecuniary or other registrable interests in items on 
the agenda, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

 

4.    Schedule of Planning Applications  
   

(1)     Application No. and Parish: 23/02965/FULMAJ, Midgham 31 - 68 
 Proposal: The proposed Development is a Logistics Hub 

comprising a three-storey block of approximately 
7,800 square metres Gross Internal Area (GIA) 
accommodating offices, laboratories and associated 

ancillary uses; a yard; a garage and storage 
building; a single-storey gatehouse; and associated 

internal access roads, car and cycle parking, 
landscaping, lighting, drainage and boundary 
treatments. 

Location: Land East of Goddards Road and 2 Gables Way, 
Thatcham 

Applicant: Thames Valley Police 

Recommendation: To delegate to the Development Manager to 
GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the 

conditions 

 

 

 

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0


Agenda - Eastern Area Planning Committee to be held on Wednesday, 8 May 2024 

(continued) 
 

 

 

 
Background Papers 

 
(a) The West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

(b) The West Berkshire District Local Plan (Saved Policies September 2007), the 
Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire, the Waste Local Plan for Berkshire and 
relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance and Documents. 

(c) Any previous planning applications for the site, together with correspondence and 
report(s) on those applications. 

(d) The case file for the current application comprising plans, application forms, 
correspondence and case officer’s notes. 

(e) The Human Rights Act. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Sarah Clarke 

Service Director – Strategy & Governance 
West Berkshire District Council 
 

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Gordon Oliver on telephone (01635) 519486. 



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT 

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee  

 

COMMITTEENAME 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

MEETINGDATE 
 
Councillors Present: MembersPresentShortSubsRolesList 
 

Also Present: NonMembersInAttendanceRepresentingList 
 

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting:  AllExcuseList 
 

Councillor(s) Absent: AllAbsentNoApologiesList 

 

PART I 
 

 
 
(The meeting commenced at MeetingActualStartTime and closed at MeetingActualFinishTime) 

 
 
CHAIRMAN ……………………………………………. 

 
Date of Signature ……………………………………………. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



DRAFT 

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee  

 

EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

WEDNESDAY, 6 MARCH 2024 

 

Councillors Present: Alan Macro (Chairman), Richard Somner (Vice-Chairman), 

Jeremy Cottam, Paul Kander, Geoff Mayes, Jane Lanford, Justin Pemberton, Vicky Poole and 

Clive Taylor 

Also Present: Simon Till (Development Control Team Leader), Sharon Armour (Principal 

Lawyer - Planning & Governance), Paul Bacchus (Principal Engineer), Michael Butler (Principal 

Planning Officer), Stephen Chard (Democratic Services Manager), Gareth Dowding (Principal 
Engineer (Traffic and Road Safety)), Elise Kinderman (Team Leader - Place), Gemma Kirk 

(Planning Officer), Katharine Makant (Service Lead - Planning and Economy) and Ben Ryan 
(Democratic Services Officer) 

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting:  Councillor Ross Mackinnon 

PART I 

41. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 4 October 2024 were approved as a true and correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

42. Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Richard Somner declared an interest in Agenda Item 2, as he was a the 
shadow portfolio holder and was a supporter of the scheme, however he was not 

involved in the detail so reported that, as his interest was a personal or an other 
registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to 

take part in the debate and vote on the matter. 

Councillor Jeremy Cottam declared an interest in Agenda Item 2, as he was a Thatcham 
Town Councillor, but reported that, as his interest was a personal or an other registrable 

interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in 
the debate and vote on the matter. 

Councillor Justin Pemberton declared an interest in Agenda Item 2, as he was a 
Thatcham Town Councillor, but reported that, as his interest was a personal or an other 
registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to 

take part in the debate and vote on the matter. 

Councillor Vicky Poole declared an interest in Agenda Item 1, as she had ran ‘Councillor 

Surgeries’ on the matter, but reported that, as his interest was a personal or an other 
registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to 
take part in the debate and vote on the matter. 

Councillor Alan Macro declared he had been lobbied on Agenda Item 2. 

 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 7



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

43. Schedule of Planning Applications 

(1) 23/01552/REG3, Four Houses Corner Caravan Site, Reading Road, 
Ufton Nervet, Reading, Stratfield Mortimer 

1. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(1)) concerning Planning 

Application 23/01552/REG3 in respect of replacing the existing permanent 18 pitch 
Gypsy caravan site with a new 17 permanent pitch Gypsy caravan site. Each pitch 

was to consist of a hard standing area large enough for two twin axle caravans, car 
parking for two vehicles and a 30 sq m amenity building consisting of a 
kitchen/dayroom, bathroom, separate WC and utility area. In addition to the amenity 

buildings a recycle storage facility, children play area and sewerage treatment plant 
are to be located within the site. Four Houses Corner Caravan Site, Reading Road, 

Ufton Nervet, Reading, Stratfield Mortimer. 

2. Mr Simon Till introduced the item by stating that West Berkshire Council (the Counci l) 
and its officers fully recognised the tragic events surrounding the death of PC Harper 

in 2019. Mr Till expressed, on behalf of the Council, the deepest sympathy with all 
those effected by this tragedy.  He explained that while objections had been raised 

on the application as a result of this tragedy, the purpose of the item was to only 
consider the planning merits of the application.  

3. Mr Michael Butler introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the 

relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In 
conclusion the report detailed that the proposal was acceptable in planning terms 

and officers recommended that the Development Control Manager be authorised to 
grant planning permission subject to the conditions outlined in the main and update 
reports. Mr Butler noted that there had been several late consultations and explained 

that an issue raised over the lack of the Fire Authority response was not because 
they had not been consulted. It was also explained that sewage was not to be stored 

on site, but to be disposed of via the mains. 

4. The Chairman asked Mr Gareth Dowding if he had any observations relating to the 
application and he did not. 

5. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Mr Graham Bridgman Parish Council 
representative, Ms Deborah Adlam, Objector, Mr Bill Bagnall, Applicant/Agent and 

Councillor Nick Carter, Ward Member, addressed the Committee on this application. 

Parish Council Representation 

6. Mr Bridgman in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 The issues raised over, drainage and consultation, at the previous meeting had 
been addressed. 

 It was never up to the Parish Council to consult residents.  

 The objections raised by Thames Valley Police were late but reflected residents’ 

concerns.  

 Robust management of the site would be necessary to prevent further criminality.  

Member Questions to the Parish Council 

7. Members did not have any questions of clarification. 

Objector Representation 

Page 8



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

8. Ms Adlam in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 Whether there had been any other alternatives considered for the site. 

 The reopening of the site would increase concerns over the welfare of the police. 

 Whether the issues with the entry points been considered. 

Member Questions to the Objector 

9. Members did not have any questions of clarification. 

Applicant/Agent Representation 

10. Mr Bagnell in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 The site needed to balance the potential cost and the need for the site. The 

Council had to deliver a five-year supply of traveller sites.  

 The previous residents had a legal right to return. 

 There was a public consultation that lasted 6 weeks, along with a public event and 
the objections raised were not material matters.  

 The site management concerns would be reflected within the tenancy agreements. 

 The drainage concerns had been addressed and agreed upon. The site introduced 

a attenuation system, which would discharge water at 2.3 litres per second.  

 The AWE DEPZ matters had been resolved with a suitable condition to be applied 
and were only included, due to the use of caravans. 

 Concerns had been raised over the numbers on the site regarding the DEPZ, 
however a pre-agreement has stated some occupants will be driven to another 

area.  

 Those at the site were not convicted of any crime and behaviour had been 

satisfactory.  

Member Questions to the Applicant/Agent 

11. Councillor Poole queried whether other sites had been considered. Mr Bagnall 

explained that finding a new site would have been difficult and the Council probably 
would not find another one. It was explained that the need to integrate these sites 

with society added an extra level of difficulty.  

12. Councillor Cottam asked about the future management of the site. Mr Bagnall 
explained that it would be carried out by an external contractor with experience of 

managing similar sites. This contract would be able to be reviewed and the contractor 
would be made aware of the past issues with the site.  

13. Councillor Geoff Mayes asked whether the single access point to the si te was 
sufficient. Mr Bagnall explained that in previous consultation with the emergency 
services it was seen as adequate. It was added that it would not be possible to have 

a second access point as you could not go out of the rear of the site by vehicle and a 
second access point along the existing road frontage would raise highways concerns.  

14. Councillor Clive Taylor asked about site security and Mr Bagnall confirmed there 
would be a weekly visit.  

15. Councillor Jane Langford questioned whether the Council could use different tenants, 

why there were two caravans per pitch and wanted clarification over the number of 
pitches. Mr Bagnall explained that the previous tenants had entered into legal 

Page 9



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

contracts, which the Council had to fulfil by allowing for them to return. He added that 
a pitch was a hard concrete standing for caravans and that there used to be 18 built 

caravan pitches and that this was to be lowered to 17.  

16. The Chairman added that the principal mobile home would be for living quarters and 

the other would be used as a touring caravan.  

17. Councillor Paul Kander queried whether a caravan could extend beyond the pitch 
and Mr Bagnall stated this was not to be the case.  

18. Councillor Poole asked why a second touring caravan could not be covered within a 
parking space. Mr Bagnall explained that this would need to be covered within 

tenancy agreements.  

Ward Member Representation 

19. Councillor Carter in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 Both of the issues brought up in the previous Committee had been addressed.  

 It would be disingenuous to suggest there was an alternative, as it is unlikely you 

will find a new site.  

Member Questions to the Ward Member 

20. Members did not have any questions of clarification. 

Member Questions to Officers 

21. Councillor Mayes asked whether there was a foul drainage solution. Mr Butler 

explained that the waste would go to a nearby sewage treatment plant and that this 
had been agreed by Thames Water. 

22. Councillor Poole asked for clarification on the caravan pitches. Mr Butler pointed 
Councillors to paragraph 1.6 and 1.7 of the report and explained that the planning 
authority could not control the overall occupation or density of units. Mr Butler added 

that it would be possible to place one static and one mobile home per pitch, but there 
would be no more than 17 pitches. 

23. Councillor Poole asked about the definition of a caravan and Mr Butler explained that 
a caravan was defined in planning legislation.  

24. Councillor Langford asked what the significant need for this site was. Ms Laura 

Callan explained that the Council had a statutory need to provide a certain number of 
pitches for travellers within the district and removing this site would increase the 

need. Mr Butler added that if this site was not to be approved it could lead to less 
favourable sites being utilised. 

25. Councillor Paul Kander asked whether the road on the site was to not to be adopted 

it was confirmed the Council as leaseholder would be responsible.  

26. Councillor Kander questioned about the mixed-use status of the application and Mr 
Butler explained that a mixed commercial and residential use of the site was not 

being proposed. 

27. Councillor Poole queried the potential for the expansion of the site and The Chairman 

stated that the applicant would need to submit another planning.  

Debate 

28. Councillor Cottam opened the debate by explaining that he sympathised with the 

situation that surrounded the previous miss management of the site, but this was a 

Page 10



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

different issue from the planning concerns. The Councillor added that if the site was 
an ordinary mobile home park it would not be refused. The Councillor added that not 

approving this appeal would allow potential unlawful builds to be granted on the basis 
that there was need for the sites. 

29. Councillor Somner agreed with Councillor Cottam and explained that although the 
circumstances around the site were unfortunate, the Committee needed to consider 
the material factors. The Councillor emphasised the need for a proper management 

plan.  

30. Councillor Somner proposed to accept Officer’s recommendation and grant planning 

permission subject to the conditions listed in the main report and update report. This 
was seconded by Councillor Cottam. 

31. Councillor Taylor stated that because the issues over drainage and the consultation 

had been addressed, he saw no way that it could be rejected.  

32. Councillor Poole asked for an amendment to condition 19, which would extend the 

period to protect nesting birds, to the end of September. This was agreed. She also 
proposed a condition about the future management of the site.    

33. Mr Butler explained to the Committee that planning permission was not personal 

permission and if the site was to be transferred the planning permission still be in 
place. This meant that the management of the site was not a planning matter.  

34. Councillor Somner proposed to accept Officer’s recommendation and grant planning 
permission subject to the conditions listed in the main report and update report with 
the addition of the note in c19. This was seconded by Councillor Cottam. 

35. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by 
Councillor Somner, seconded by Councillor Cottam to grant planning permission. At 

the vote the motion was carried. 

RESOLVED that the Development Control Manager be authorised to grant planning 

permission subject to the following conditions: 

Conditions 

1. Commencement of development 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

2. Approved plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and documents listed below: 

All E1511-GSA-XX-DR: 

A-000, [01 and 02], A-403, A-401, A-402, A-102, A-103, A-104, A-105, A-110, 

A-120 and A-053-05, and A-052-06.  

Reason:   For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 

3. AWE Emergency Plan (Construction) 

No development shall take place until a site-specific Emergency Plan has 

Page 11



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The Emergency Plan shall provide policies and procedures for the 

preparedness and response to an incident at AWE Aldermaston/Burghfield 
during the construction of the development.  Thereafter the development 

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan. 

Reason: The approval and implementation of a site-specific Emergency Plan 
is necessary to mitigate the residual risk posed to public safety by the close 

proximity of AWE Burghfield, to ensure appropriate preparedness and 
response in the event of an incident at AWE, and to ensure that the 

development does not adversely affect the AWE Off-Site Emergency 
Response Plan. This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS8 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026. 

4. AWE Emergency Plan (Operational/Occupation) 

The site shall not be first occupied until a site-specific Emergency Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The Emergency Plan shall provide policies and procedures for the 

preparedness and response to an incident at AWE Aldermaston/Burghfield 
during the operation and occupation of the development. 

Thereafter, the premises shall not be operated without the implementation of 
the approved Emergency Plan, or an approved revision. 

The plan shall be kept up-to-date, and relevant to the occupant at all times. 

An amended version of the plan may be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval pursuant to this condition. The Local Planning Authority 

may at any time require the amendment of the Plan by giving notice pursuant 
to this condition; in which case the amended plan shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval within 1 month of notice being given. 

Reason: The approval and implementation of a site-specific Emergency Plan 
is necessary to mitigate the residual risk posed to public safety by the close 

proximity of AWE Burghfield, to ensure appropriate preparedness and 
response in the event of an incident at AWE, and to ensure that the 
development does not adversely affect the AWE Off-Site Emergency 

Response Plan. This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS8 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026. 

5. Footway 

The development shall not be brought into use until the footway to be 

constructed fronting the site has been constructed in accordance with the 
approved drawings and any statutory undertaker's equipment or street 

furniture located in the position of this footway/cycleway has been re-sited to 
provide an unobstructed footway/cycleway.         

Reason: In the interest of road safety and to ensure adequate and 

unobstructed provision for pedestrians and/or cyclists. This condition is 
imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 

Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). 

6. Visibility splays 

The development shall not be brought into use until the visibility splays at the 

Page 12



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

access have been provided in accordance with drawing number E1511-GSA-
XX-DR -A-052  Rev06.  The land within these visibility splays shall thereafter 

be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 0.6 metres above 
the carriageway level. 

Reason: In the interests of road safety.  This condition is imposed in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS13 of 
the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). 

7. Parking  

No pitch shall be first occupied until vehicle parking and turning spaces for 

that pitch and all shared areas have been completed in accordance with the 
approved plans (including any surfacing arrangements and marking out).  
Thereafter the parking and turning spaces shall be kept available for parking 

and manoeuvring (of private cars and/or private light goods vehicles) at all 
times. 

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with adequate parking 
facilities, in order to reduce the likelihood of roadside parking that would 
adversely affect road safety and the flow of traffic.  This condition is applied in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS13 of the 
West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policy P1 of the Housing Site 

Allocations DPD 2006-2026. 

8. Access construction  

The development shall not be brought into use until the access has been 

constructed in accordance with the approved drawings.  

Reason: In the interest of road safety.  This condition is imposed in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS13 of 
the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). 

9. Cycle parking/storage (prior approval before occupation) 

No pitch shall be first occupied until cycle parking/storage facilities for that 
pitch and all shared areas have been provided in accordance with details that 

have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the facilities shall be maintained and kept available for 
that purpose at all times. 

Reason: To ensure the provision of cycle parking/storage facilities in order to 
encourage the use of cycles and reduce reliance on private motor vehicles. 

This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, 
Policy P1 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 2006-2026, Quality Design 

SPD, and the Council’s Cycle and Motorcycle Advice and Standards for New 
Development (November 2014). 

10. Maximum pitches 

At no time shall more than 17 pitches be provided on the application site. 

Reason: To prevent the overdevelopment of the site and maintain good 

amenity for occupants.  This condition is imposed in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire 

Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

Page 13



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

11. Occupation restriction 

The site hereby permitted shall not be occupied at any time other than by 

Gypsies and Travellers, as defined in the revised Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites of December 2023.  

Reason: To comply with policy CS7 in the West Berkshire Core Strategy 
2006-2026, and to maintain a supply of pitches. 

12. Day rooms 

The dayrooms hereby permitted shall only be used for purposes ancillary 
and/or incidental to the pitches upon which they are sited. 

Reason: To prevent the overdevelopment of the site and maintain good 
amenity for occupants.  This condition is imposed in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire 

Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

13. Land contamination 

If any previously unidentified contaminated land is found during demolition 
and/or construction activities, it shall be reported immediately in writing to the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA).  Appropriate investigation and risk 

assessment shall be undertaken, and any necessary remediation measures 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the LPA.  These submissions 

shall be prepared by a competent person (a person with a recognised 
relevant qualification, sufficient experience in dealing with the type(s) of 
pollution or land instability, and membership of a relevant professional 

organisation), and conducted in accordance with current best practice.  The 
remediation scheme shall ensure that, after remediation, as a minimum, the 

land shall not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under 
Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.    Thereafter, any 
remediation measures shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA, the development 
shall not be occupied until any approved remediation measures have been 

completed and a verification report to demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
remediation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 

Reason:   To ensure that any unexpected contamination encountered during 

the development is suitably assessed and dealt with, such that it does not 
pose an unacceptable risk to human health or the environment.  This 

condition is applied in accordance with paragraphs 170, 178, 179 and 180 
the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy OVS.5 of the West 
Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 

14. Gas migration  

The gas protection measures to make the land suitable for its intended use, 

as set out in the Earth Environmental & Geotechnical Report dated April 2022 
shall be completed in full and a validation report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect future occupiers and users of the site from the harmful 
effects of contamination, in accord with the advice on human health in the 

NPPF.   

15. Drainage 

Page 14



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

No development shall take place until details of sustainable drainage 
measures to manage surface water within the site have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
the principles of Ardent Consulting Engineers’ Drawings No. 2206380-001C 

These details shall:  

a) Incorporate the implementation of Sustainable Drainage methods (SuDS) in 
accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS (March 
2015), the SuDS Manual C753 (2015) and West Berkshire Council local 
standards, particularly the WBC SuDS Supplementary Planning Document 
December 2018;  

b) Include construction drawings, cross-sections and specifications of all 
proposed SuDS measures within the site;  

c) Include run-off calculations, discharge rates, infiltration and storage capacity 
calculations for the proposed SuDS measures based on a 1 in 100 year 
storm +40% for climate change; 

d) Include pre-treatment methods to prevent any pollution or silt entering SuDS 
features or causing any contamination to the soil or groundwater; 

e) Ensure any permeable paved areas are designed and constructed in 
accordance with manufacturers guidelines.  

f) Ensure any permeable areas are constructed on a permeable sub-base 
material such as Type 3 or reduced fines Type 1 material as appropriate; 

g) Include details of how the SuDS measures will be maintained and managed 
after completion. These details shall be provided as part of a handover pack 
for subsequent purchasers and owners of the property/premises; and 

h) Provide details of how surface water will be managed and contained within 
the site during any construction works to prevent silt migration and pollution 
of watercourses and land either on or adjacent to the site. 

Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that surface water will be managed in a sustainable 
manner; to prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect 

water quality, habitat and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the 
surface water drainage system can be, and is carried out in an appropriate 
and efficient manner. This condition is applied in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS16 of the West Berkshire 
Core Strategy (2006-2026). A pre-condition is necessary because insufficient 

detailed information accompanies the application and so it is necessary to 
approve these details before any development takes place.  

16. Submission of a copy of the EPS licence 

The demolition of Building 2 identified on the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Map, 
ECO3178, of the Ecological Assessment by GS Ecology (January 2024), 

shall not in any circumstances commence unless the Local Planning 
Authority has been provided with either:  

(a) A licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55 of The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 authorising the 
specified activity/development to go ahead; or  

(b) A statement in writing from Natural England to the effect that it does not 
consider that the specified activity/development will require a licence.  

Reason: To ensure the adequate safeguarding of protected species in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of 

the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026.  This "strict protection" 
condition helps to ensure that a developer will apply for an EPS licence and, 

Page 15



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

if they do not, can be prevented in advance from undertaking the activities 
that might jeopardize the protected species, before the species is harmed. 

The use of planning conditions for this purpose has been established through 
case law and is also recommended in government. 

17. Lighting design strategy for light sensitive biodiversity 

Prior to occupation, a "lighting design strategy for biodiversity" shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

strategy shall: 

(a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats 
and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and 
resting places or along important routes used to access key areas of their 
territory, for example, for foraging; and 

(b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision 
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it 
can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the 
above species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites 
and resting places. 

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications 
and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter 

in accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other 
external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning 

authority. 

Reason: Bats are sensitive to light pollution. The introduction of artificial light 
might mean such species are disturbed and/or discouraged from using their 

breeding and resting places, established flyways or foraging areas. Such 
disturbance can constitute an offence under relevant wildlife legislation. This 

condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026. 

18. Reptile Mitigation Strategy 

All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with 

the Reptile Mitigation Strategy contained in 4.32 - 4.41 of the Ecological 
Assessment by GS Ecology, dated February 2024 as already submitted with 
the planning application prior to determination.  

Reason: To secure detailed ecological mitigation and enhancement 
measures. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 
2006-2026. 

19. Nesting Birds 

No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs, or works to or demolition of 
buildings or structures that may be used by breeding birds shall take place 

between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist 
has undertaken a careful, detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests 
immediately before the vegetation is cleared and provided written 

confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate 
measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written 

confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority. 

Reason: To ensure that breeding birds are protected from harm during 

Page 16



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

construction. All British birds, their nests and eggs (with certain limited 
exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, as amended. This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026. 

20. Invasive Species (Japanese Knotweed Eradication Strategy) 

Prior to the commencement of development, an invasive non-native species 

protocol shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority, 
detailing the containment, control and removal of Japanese Knotweed 

(Fallopia japonica) on site. The measures shall be carried out strictly in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason: For the removal of invasive species in line with schedule 9 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). A pre-commencement 
condition is necessary, as if left untreated, the development will cause the 

spread of the plant elsewhere. 

21. Biodiversity enhancements 

Prior to the completion of the development hereby approved, details of how 

the development will enhance biodiversity will be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details will be 

implemented and thereafter retained. 

Reason: To secure detailed ecological mitigation and enhancement 
measures. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 
2006-2026. 

22. Ecological surveys 

If the development hereby approved is suspended for more than 12 months 
from the date of this permission, the approved ecological reports shall be 

reviewed and, where necessary, amended and updated. The review shall be 
informed by further ecological surveys commissioned to (i) establish if there 

have been any changes in the presence and/or abundance of protected 
species and (ii) identify any likely new ecological impacts that might arise 
from any changes. 

Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result 
in ecological impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, the 

original approved ecological measures will be revised and new or amended 
measures, and a timetable for their implementation, will be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to works 

recommencing. Works will then be carried out in accordance with the 
proposed new approved ecological measures and timetable. 

Reason: To ensure biodiversity enhancements are incorporated into the 
development. This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026. 

23. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, 
vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

Page 17



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The CEMP shall include the following: 

(a) Details of the working method statement for bats at 4.16 of the Ecological 
Assessment by GS Ecology (January 2024). 

(b) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
(c) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  
(d) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) 

to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of 
method statements).  

(e) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features.  

(f) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present 
on site to oversee works.  

(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 

or similarly competent person.  
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.  

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  

Reason: To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity 
assets of the site and wider area in accordance with Policy CS17 in the West 

Berkshire Core Strategy (2006 to 2026) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. A pre-commencement condition is required because the CEMP 

will need to be adhered to throughout construction. 

 

 

Informatives 

1. Statement under Article 35(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 

The Council seeks to work with applicants in positive and proactive manner, 

where possible seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to dealing 
with a planning application.  In accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework, the Council offers a pre-application advice service so that 
potential issues can be identified and addressed prior to submission.  The 
Council will also negotiate improvements to submitted applications in line with 

its published strategy.  In this instance, the applicant has been given the 
opportunity to submit additional information to address issues raised during 

the consideration of the application. 

2. CIL 

The development hereby approved results in a requirement to make 

payments to the Council as part of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
procedure.  A Liability Notice setting out further details, and including the 

amount of CIL payable will be sent out separately from this Decision Notice.  
You are advised to read the Liability Notice and ensure that a 
Commencement Notice is submitted to the authority prior to the 

commencement of the development.  Failure to submit the Commencement 
Notice will result in the loss of any exemptions claimed, and the loss of any 

right to pay by instalments, and additional costs to you in the form of 

Page 18



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

surcharges.  For further details see the website at www.westberks.gov.uk/cil 

 

44. 23/02187/FULMAJ, Thatcham Memorial Playing Fields, Brownsfield 
Road, Thatcham 

36. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(2)) concerning Planning 
Application 23/02187/FULMAJ in respect of a Flood Alleviation Scheme including 

detention basin and swale. New cricket facilities to replace those lost by the scheme 
Thatcham Memorial Playing Fields, Brownsfield Road, Thatcham. 

37. Ms Gemma Kirk introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the 

relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In 
conclusion the report detailed that the proposal was acceptable in planning terms 

and officers recommended that the Development Manager be authorised to grant 
planning permission subject to the conditions outlined in the main and update 
reports.  

38. The Chairman asked Mr Dowding if he had any highway observations relating to the 
application. Mr Dowding made no comment. 

39. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Mr Simon Pike, Town Council 
representative, Rosalind Lewis, objector, Mr Brian Woodham, Councillor Iain 
Cottingham, supporters Mr Brian Cafferkey, agent, addressed the Committee on this 

application. 

Town Council Representation 

40. Mr Pike in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 The scheme was the final piece of a larger scheme that would alleviate future 
flood concerns within Thatcham. 

 Thatcham Town Council supported the principle of the application subject to a 
number of reservations expressed as objections. 

 The scheme was complex due location in the heart of the town and the multitude 
of its uses. 

 The Town Council accepted that during construction It would have a negative 
impact on the area and negatively impact those who use the site.  

 Conditions proposed alleviated reservations. The consultation and planned 

compensation were addressed outside of the planning process. Support from 
Town Council was without reservation. 

 Noted the impact of the scheme but looked to the flood risk benefits of the scheme 
and requested that the Committee approve the application subject to the proposed 

conditions. 

Member Questions to the Town Council 

41. Councillor Mayes queried the status of the other existing sites and Mr Pike explained 

that they three were under construction, but emphasised he was not sure. Mr Pike 
advised that the scheme had a different purpose to the others. 

Objector Representation 

42. Ms Lewis in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

Page 19



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

 The site could become unsightly and lead to flooding issues if not properly 
maintained.  

Member Questions to the Objector 

43. Members did not have any questions of clarification. 

Supporter Representation 

44. Mr Woodham and Councillor Cottingham in addressing the Committee raised the 
following points: 

 This was not a standalone scheme, and this was the last of the applications. 

 The scheme would help mitigate events such as the 2007 floods.  

 The application would take urban runoff to the river below. To protect properties 
south of the A4. 

 Mr Woodham advised that work must start this month. 

 The cricket club supported the application and although the club was due to lose 

land it was being compensated with new cricket nets.  

 The cricket club raised concerns that not all the tree protective fencing was 

required. 

 The cricket club would like to be involved in the decision over what fencing is used 
for the perimeter.  

Member Questions to the Supporter 

45. Councillor Cottam queried whether there could be adverse flooding affects from the 

scheme. Mr Woodham explained that the Council had taken the responsibility for the 
maintenance regime. The scheme would be registered as a flood asset and the 
budget was in place to support it. 

46. The Chairman wanted clarification on the acronym SWMP. Mr Woodham advises 
that it means Surface Water Management Plan. 

47. Councillor Poole pondered the impact on the cricket club. Councillor Cottingham 
stated that the top end of the cricket field was used by juniors on Fridays, as well as 
girl’s cricket. Sport England had raised a statutory objection, which had been 

mitigated through security amendments to the lease. There could be a reduction in 
junior numbers and revenue however, the benefits of the scheme were recognised. 

48. Councillor Kander asked about the impact on girl’s cricket and Councillor Cottingham 
stated sessions would need to be rearranged and that Sport England were aware.  

49. Councillor Taylor enquired about the trees on the site and Councillor Cottingham 

argued that not all of the trees needed to be protected and recognised there would 
be some loss on the cricket field.  

50. Councillor Poole questioned the impact the loss of land would have. Councillor 
Cottingham stated that he believed that the ground would still have county status.  

51. Councillor Poole asked whether the recent heavy rainfall had impacted that part of 

Thatcham. Mr Woodham was seeking answers to this question. He noted Heath 
Lane scheme was holding water. The rain recently was not of the same scale as 

2007. 

Applicant/Agent Representation 

Page 20



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

52. Mr Cafferkey in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 The Surface Water Management Plan comprised of several flood alleviation 

schemes to mitigate flooding.  

 Many had benefitted due to the schemes already implemented and this application 

would be the final piece. This would guarantee residents of Thatcham would be 
protected in the future.  

 The scheme had secured approval and funding from the Environmental Agency.  

 Mr Cafferkey set out the details of the basin. 

 The scheme sought to reduce flooding from two different sources overland flow 

and flooding from sewers.  

 Benefits included protection of properties, improved water quality of the Kennet 

and Avon canal, in terms of run-off and an opportunity to increase biodiversity.  

Member Questions to the Agent 

53. Councillor Poole asked how the basin disposed of water and Mr Cafferkey explained 
it was through attenuation and discharged into Thames Water sewer. 

Ward Member Representation 

54. Councillor Cottam in addressing the Committee raised the following points: 

 He had lived through the floods of 2007 and the works proposed were vital to 

prevent such an event from happening again. The need to mitigate the impacts of 
the scheme, replace the loss of trees and enhance ecology is recognised. 

Member Questions to the Ward Member 

55. Councillor Mayes enquired as to whether any of the houses had flooded in the recent 
floods and Councillor Cottam replied, no.  

Member Questions to Officers 

56. Councillor Pemberton asked whether the replacement dog walking site would be 

comparable to the one lost and wondered whether this could be conditioned. Mr Till 
stated that the wording of condition 16 could be tightened but it could not be a pre-
condition as this would be unreasonable.  

57. Councillor Cottam queried the number of lorry movements that would be created due 
to construction and how it would be controlled. Mr Gareth Dowding replied that the 
site would generate around one lorry every 40 to 50 minutes and there would be 

control on the junction. Control of this would be conditioned. 

58. Councillor Cottam expressed concerns over the loss of trees and Ms Kinderman 

explained that with the additional planting of the hedges and other trees there would 
be a net gain in biodiversity. Landscape and Ecological Management condition will 
control this. 

59. Councillor Poole asked why this scheme was being explored. Ms Kirk advised that 
the scheme works in tandem, and this is intended to cover an area not covered by 

other schemes. Mr Till advised the action plan was required to be delivered in its 
entirety to be effective. 

 

 

Page 21



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

Debate 

60. Councillor Langford opened the debate by arguing that the application was a good 

scheme, however highlighted the necessity of proper maintenance.   

61. Councillor Pemberton asserted that the removal of trees and the disruption of the 

park area was not ideal, however the application was necessary to protect Thatcham.  

62. Councillor Somner proposed to accept Officer’s recommendation and grant planning 
permission subject to the conditions listed in the main report and update report with 

the change to condition 16 to state that a similar site would be found. This was 
seconded by Councillor Pemberton 

63. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by 
Councillor Somner, seconded by Councillor Pemberton to grant planning permission. 
At the vote the motion was carried. 

RESOLVED that the Development Manager be authorised to grant planning permission 

subject to the following conditions: 

Conditions 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and documents listed below: 

(i) Drawing 2004241-016 P2 (Site Location Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

(ii) Drawing 2004241-001 C (General Arrangement) received on 05.01.2024; 

(iii) Drawing 2004241-002 P2 (Red line Boundary) received on 22.12.2023; 

(iv) Drawing 2004241-005 (Proposed Earthworks: Cut and Fill Volumes) received on 
18.09.2023; 

(v) Drawing 2004241-006 A (Tree Removal Plan) received on 18.09.2023; 

(vi) Drawing 2004241-007 (Site Cross Sections Sheet 1 of 2) received on 18.09.2023; 

(vii) Drawing 2004241-008 (Site Cross Sections Sheet 2 of 2) received on 18.09.2023; 

(viii) Drawing 2004241-009 (Bund and Swale: Construction Details Sheet 1 of 4) received 
on 18.09.2023; 

(ix) Drawing 2004241-010 (Bund and Swale: Construction Details Sheet 2 of 4) received 

on 18.09.2023; 

(x) Drawing 2004241-011 (Bund and Swale: Construction Details Sheet 3 of 4) received 

on 18.09.2023; 

(xi) Drawing 2004241-012 (Bund and Swale: Construction Details Sheet 4 of 4) received 
on 18.09.2023; 

(xii) Drawing 2004241-013 (Flow Control Structure Detail) received on 18.09.2023; 

(xiii) Drawing 2004421-014 A (Exolum Pipeline Protection Plan) received on 29.11.2023; 

(xiv) Drawing 2004241-015 P1 (Pedestrian Footbridge Detail) received on 22.09.2023; 

Page 22



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

(xv) Drawing 2004241-024 (Relocation of Practice Nets and Artificial Wicket) received on 
22.12.2023; 

(xvi) Drawing NSTTCC001 (Triple Lane Practice Facility) received on 22.12.2023; 

(xvii) Slatter Cricket and Play: Thatcham Town Cricket Club Quotation received on 

22.12.2023. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 

3. The construction of the hereby approved development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the drawings listed below unless otherwise agreed in writing: 

(i) Drawing 2004241-020 (Enabling Works: General Arrangement) received on 

18.09.2023; 

(ii) Drawing 2004241-021 (Enabling Works: Visualisation and Details) received on 
18.09.2023; 

(iii) Drawing 2004241-022 (Enabling Works: Vehicle Tracking) received on 18.09.2023. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining land uses and occupiers, and in the 

interests of highway safety. This condition is applied in accordance with Policies CS13 
and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policies OVS.5, OVS.6 
and TRANS.1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 

2007). 

4. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 

clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall 
include the following: 

(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

(b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 

(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements) 
including storage of materials/chemicals and equipment, dust suppression, chemical 

and/or fuel run-off, noise/visual vibrational impacts 

(d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

(e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 
oversee works. 

(f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 

(g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person. 

(h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing 

by the local planning authority. 

Reason: Without appropriate mitigation the application would have an adverse effect on 

the integrity of the River Kennet, Thatcham Reedbeds and Bowdon & Chamberhouse 
Woods SSSI. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and Policy CS17 of 
the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-commencement condition is 

required because the CEMP will need to be adhered to throughout construction. 

Page 23



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

5. No development shall take place (including site set-up) until a Construction Method 
Statement (CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Thereafter the demolition and construction works shall incorporate and be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved CMS. The CMS shall include measures for: 

(a) A site set-up plan during the works; 

(b) Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

(c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

(d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

(e) Erection and maintenance of security hoarding including any decorative displays 

and/or facilities for public viewing; 

(f) Temporary access arrangements in accordance with Drawings 2004241-020 and 
2004241-021 to the site including details of bank persons; 

(g) Wheel washing facilities; 

(h) Measures to control dust, dirt, noise, vibrations, odours, surface water run-off, and 

pests/vermin during construction; 

(i) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 
works; 

(j) Hours of construction and demolition work; 

(k) Hours of deliveries and preferred haulage routes; 

(l) Measures to manage impact to pedestrians and cyclists 

(m) Confirmation staff and contractors will be briefed on UXO Safety Awareness 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining land uses and occupiers, and in the 

interests of highway safety. This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026, and Policies OVS.5, OVS.6 and TRANS.1 of the West Berkshire 
District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). A pre-commencement condition is 
required because the CMS must be adhered to during all demolition and construction 

operations. 

6. No construction site set-up (as indicated by Drawing 2004241-020) shall take place 

until formalised arrangements for the temporary disabled parking are submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed temporary spaces shall 
remain for the duration of the construction and removed within a month of the 

construction access being re-instated to its original use. 

Readon: To ensure that the healthcare facilities to the south of the site remain accessible 

during the construction of the development. This policy is applied in accordance with the 
NPPF and Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A 
pre-commencement condition is required as the temporary parking provision is required 

to be provided during the construction operations. 

7. No development shall commence until a layout scheme for maximising the potential for 

incidental extraction where practicable has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 

Page 24



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

Reason: To ensure the minimum amount of mineral sterilisation occurs and in 
accordance with Policy 9 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan. A pre-commencement 

condition is necessary, as once the development is built there will be no opportunity to 
design the scheme so as to maximise the potential for mineral extraction. 

8. No development shall commence until the following has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter all works for each 
phase shall be carried out in accordance with the methods agreed throughout the 

construction period: 

(a) a method for ensuring that minerals that can be viably recovered during the 

development are recovered and put to beneficial use; 

(b) a method to record the quantity of recovered mineral (for re-use on site or off site) and 
the reporting of this quantity to the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the minimum amount of mineral sterilisation occurs and in 
accordance with Policy 9 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan. A pre- commencement 

condition is necessary, as once the development is built there will be no opportunity to 
design the scheme so as to maximise the potential for mineral extraction. 

9. 9. Prior to groundworks commencing a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 

(LEMP) (also referred to as a Habitat or Biodiversity Management Plan) has been 
submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of 

the LEMP shall include the following: 

(a) Details of the landscaping proposed as part of 6.1.2 of the Ecological Assessment by 
Derek Finnie Associates (August 2023) and two trees to replace those to be felled to 

accommodate the cricket practice nets. These details shall include species, plant sizes 
and proposed numbers/densities and an implementation program providing sufficient 

specifications to ensure successful cultivation of trees, shrub and grass establishment. 

(b) A time program to implement the landscaping scheme 

(c) Aims and objectives of landscape management. 

(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 

(e) Prescriptions for management actions. 

(f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 
forward over a five-year period). 

(g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 

(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the 

long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. 

The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure compensation for the trees lost at the site as these have both a visual 
and ecological benefit The landscaping would also provide ecological enhancement as 

described in the Ecological Assessment by Derek Finnie Associates (August 2023) and 
the accompanying Biodiversity New Gain Metric. This condition is applied in accordance 
with the NPPF and Policies CS14, CS17, CS18 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core 

Strategy (20026-2026). 

 

Page 25



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

10. Prior to groundworks commencing a detailed scheme of landscaping for the site has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 

shall include: 

(a) schedules of plants noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities 

(b) an implementation programme providing sufficient specifications to ensure successful 
cultivation of trees, shrub and grass establishment. 

All soft landscaping works shall be completed in accordance with the approved soft 

landscaping scheme within the first planting season following completion of development 
or first use of the development (whichever occurs first). Any trees, shrubs or plants that 

die or become seriously damaged within five years of this development shall be replaced 
in the following year by plants of the same size and species. 

Reason: Required to safeguard and enhance the character and amenity of the area, to 

provide ecological, environmental and bio-diversity benefits and to maximise the quality 
and usability of open spaces within the development, and to enhance its setting within 

the immediate locality. This is to ensure the implementation of a satisfactory scheme of 
landscaping in accordance with the NPPF and Policies ADPP1, CS14, CS17, CS18 and 
CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006- 2026. 

11. No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 
31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed 

check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is cleared 
and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are 
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written 

confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority. 

Reason: To ensure that breeding birds are protected from harm during construction. All 

British birds, their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by 
Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended. This condition is applied 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the 

West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

12. All tree protective fencing shall be erected in accordance with the submitted plans, 

reference drawing numbers SJA TPP 22318-041a dated Sept 2023. The protective 
fencing shall be implemented and retained intact for the duration of the development. 
Within the fenced area(s), there shall be no excavations, storage or mixing of materials, 

storage of machinery, parking of vehicles or fires. 

Reason: Required to safeguard and to enhance the setting within the immediate locality 

to ensure the protection and retention of existing trees and natural features during the 
construction phase in accordance with the NPPF and Policies ADPP1, CS14, CS17, 
CS18 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

13. Prior to groundworks commencing the remaining tennis court shall be retained in 
accordance with Drawing 2004241-023-P1) for the duration of the construction and it 

shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority alternative arrangements during 
construction for the tennis court to be lost. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in the loss sport 

facilities. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and Policies CS14 and 
CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

 

Page 26



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

14. No construction of the three lane practice nets shall commence until a scheme for the 
protection of trees to be retained is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan showing the location of the 
protective fencing, and shall specify the type of protective fencing. The protective fencing 

should be as specified at Chapter 6 and detailed in figure 2 of B.S.5837:2012. All such 
fencing shall be erected prior to works taking place and at least 2 working days notice 
shall be given to the Local Planning Authority that it has been erected. It shall be 

maintained and retained for the full duration of works or until such time as agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. No activities or storage of materials whatsoever 

shall take place within the protected areas without the prior written agreement of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the retention of existing 

trees and natural features during the construction phase in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Policies CS14, CS18 and CS19 of West Berkshire Core 

Strategy 2006-2026. 

15. Within six months of the construction site set-up commencing the cricket nets and 
non-turf wicket (as shown on Drawings 2004241-024 and NSTTCC 001B) hereby 

approved shall have been constructed and brought into use. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in the loss sport 

facilities. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and Policies CS14 and 
CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

16. Within three months of the completion of the hereby approved development a 

replacement enclosed dog walking area of a similar quality and size to the existing shall 
be provided in accordance with details that are first submitted to and agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the location, size and boundary 
treatments for the enclosure. 

Reason: To ensure that the existing dog walking provision is replaced within one of a 

similar quality. The dog walking facility forms part of the green infrastructure provision 
and public amenity at Thatcham Memorial Playing Fields which is required to be 

protected and enhanced. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and 
Policies CS14 and CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

17. Within three months of the removal of the temporary construction road and access 

hereby approved the children's play equipment indicated to be removed on Drawing 
2004241-020 shall be replaced in accordance with details that are first agreed with by the 

Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the location, type of equipment and any 
boundary treatments required. 

Reason: To ensure the children's play area is returned to the site which forms part of the 

green infrastructure provision at Thatcham Memorial Playing Fields which is required to 
be protected and enhanced. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and 

Policy CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

18. Within three months of the removal of the temporary construction road and access 
(as shown on Drawing 2004241-020) hereby permitted the existing tennis court to be lost 

during construction shall be reinstated to a quality at least equivalent (or better) than the 
current quality. Details of the reinstated tennis court shall be approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority before reinstatement works commence. 

 

Page 27



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

Reason: To ensure the development would not result in the loss or harm to sport 
facilities. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and Policies CS14 and 

CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 

19. Within three months of the removal of the temporary construction compound, road 

and access (as shown on Drawing 2004241-020) hereby permitted the recreational 
ground shall be reinstated to a quality at least equivalent (or better) than the current 
quality. 

Reason: To ensure the development would not result in the loss or harm to sport facilities 
and green infrastructure. This condition is applied in accordance with the NPPF and 

Policies CS14 and CS18 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). 

20. Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the completion of construction 
operations or first use of the development (whichever occurs first) details of the proposed 

footpaths shall be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. These details 
shall include location, width and materials to be used. The footpaths shall be provided 

within one month of the completion of construction operations or first use of the 
development (whichever occurs first). 

Reason: To ensure that enjoyment of the playing fields and the connectivity it provides 

for residents to services in Thatcham is not harmfully impacted by the development. This 
condition is applied in accordance with Policy CS13, CS14 and CS18 of the West 

Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026 and Policy TRANS1 of the West Berkshire District 
Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 

21. The new fence hereby approved shall not be installed until details of the fence have 

first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details of the fence shall include height, style, and materials. The new fence shall be 

installed in accordance with these approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed fence does not have a harmful impact on the 
character of the area. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-
2026), and the Quality Design SPD. 

Informatives 

1 The applicant’s attention is drawn to the fact that above conditions must be complied 
with in full before any work commences on site, failure to do so may result in 

enforcement action being instigated. 

2 Protected Species 

Prior to the commencement of this proposal you are reminded that if there is any 
evidence of Protected Species on the site you must consider the implications of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the Habitats Regulations 1994 and the Countryside 

and Rights of Way Act 2000 and comply with any necessary additional regulations and 
licences. For example, you must avoid taking, damaging or destroying the nest built or 

being used or egg of any wild bird as this would be an offence (with certain exceptions). 
You must also not intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or block access to any 
habitat used by a protected species, such as bats, dormice, reptiles or any other species 

as listed in The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, Schedule 2 
European Protected Species of Animals. Any licensing requirements are in addition to 

the requirements for planning permission and subject to a separate process. The 
following website gives further advice on this matter www.gov.uk/guidance/wildlife-
licences  

Page 28



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

3 The above Permission may contain pre-conditions, which require specific matters to be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority before a specified stage in the development 

occurs. For example, “Prior to commencement of development written details of the 
means of enclosure will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority”. This means that a lawful commencement of the approved development cannot 
be made until the particular requirements of the pre-condition(s) have been met. A fee is 
required for an application to discharge conditions. 

4 This decision has been made in a positive way to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development having regard to Development Plan policies and available guidance to 

secure high quality appropriate development. In this application whilst there has been a 
need to balance conflicting considerations, the local planning authority has worked 
proactively with the applicant to secure and accept what is considered to be a 

development which improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the 
area. 

5 Conditions nos. 4-8 impose requirements which must be met prior to commencement 
of the development. Failure to observe these requirements could result in the Council 
taking enforcement action, or may invalidate the planning permission and render the 

whole of the development unlawful. 

6 Planning permission is hereby granted for the development as shown on the approved 

drawings. Any variation to the approved scheme may require further permission, and 
unauthorised variations may lay you open to planning enforcement action. You are 
advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority, before work commences, if you 

are thinking of introducing any variations to the approved development. Advice should 
urgently be sought if a problem occurs during approved works, but it is clearly preferable 

to seek advice at as early a stage as possible. 

7 You should not undertake any work or activity without first contacting Exolum for advice 
and, if required, a Works Consent. For a copy of Exolum's Standard Requirements for 

Crossing or Working in Close Proximity to Exolum Pipelines, please visit 
https://lsbud.co.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/10/lsbud-standard requirement-uk-um.pdf. 

8 The responsibility and any liability for the safe development of the site rests with the 
developer and/or landowner. Although the Council has used its best endeavours to 
determine this application on the basis of the information available to it, this does not 

mean that the land or adjoining land will necessarily remain free from instability. The 
Council's consideration has been only on the basis of the development proposed, and 

these considerations may be different in relation to any other development. The question 
of stability of adjacent land has been a material planning consideration, and the 
resolution of this issue for the purposes of granting planning permission does not 

necessarily imply that the requirements of any other controlling authority would be 
satisfied and, in particular, the granting of planning permission does not give any 

warranty for support or stability or against damage of adjoining or nearby properties. 

9 Your attention is drawn to Section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974, which allows 
developers and their building contractors to apply for 'prior consent' for noise generating 

activities during building works. This proactive approach involves assessment of 
construction working methods to be used and prediction of likely construction noise levels 

at sensitive positions, with the aim of managing the generation of construction noise 
using the 'best practicable means' available. You are advised to engage an acoustic 
consultant experienced in construction noise and vibration assessment and prediction to 

complete your S.61 application. 

 

Page 29



EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 6 MARCH 2024 - MINUTES 

 

10 The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and 

demolition sites. Application under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, 
can be made to West Berkshire Environmental Health. For more information: email 

ehadvice@westberks.gov.uk, call 01635 519192, or visit 
http://info.westberks.gov.uk/environmentalhealth. 

11 Before development commences it is recommended that the applicant checks 

whether an environmental permit is required from the Environment Agency. More 
information is available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-if-you-need-

anenvironmental-permit. Alternatively the applicant can call the Environment Agency at: 
03708 506 506. 

 

 

(The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 9.43 pm) 

 

 

CHAIRMAN ……………………………………………. 

 

Date of Signature ……………………………………………. 

Page 30



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Item 
No. 

Application No. 
and Parish 

Statutory Target 
Date 

Proposal, Location, Applicant 

 
(1) 

 

23/02965/FULMAJ 

Midgham 

 
08th April 20241 

 
The proposed Development is a 
Logistics Hub comprising a three-storey 
block of approximately 7,800 square 
metres Gross Internal Area (GIA) 
accommodating offices, laboratories 
and associated ancillary uses; a yard; a 
garage and storage building; a single-
storey gatehouse; and associated 
internal access roads, car and cycle 
parking, landscaping, lighting, drainage 
and boundary treatments. 

Land East of Goddards Road and 2 
Gables Way, Thatcham 

Thames Valley Police 

1 Extension of time agreed with applicant until 13th May 2024 
 
The application can be viewed on the Council’s website at the following link: 
http://planning.westberks.gov.uk/rpp/index.asp?caseref=23/02965/FULMAJ  
 
 
Recommendation Summary: 
 

To delegate to the Development Manager to GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the conditions. 
 

Ward Member(s): 

 
Councillor Read 

Reason for Committee 
Determination: 

 

The application is recommended for conditional approval 
and 10+ objections were received, and it was also 
called-in by Councillor Read due to height of scheme, 
drainage concerns and potential light pollution impact.  
 

Committee Site Visit: 

 
1st May 2024 

 
 
Contact Officer Details 

 
Name: Gemma Kirk 

Job Title: Senior Planning Officer 

Tel No: 01635 519111 

Email: Gemma.Kirk@westberks.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 31

Agenda Item 4.(1)

http://planning.westberks.gov.uk/rpp/index.asp?caseref=23/02965/FULMAJ


 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to outline officer’s assessment of the application and 
recommendation for the Committee to consider. The proposed development has been 
assessed by officers against the policies of the development plan and the relevant 
material considerations, to assist Committee in making a decision as to whether to 
approve or refuse the application. 

1.2 This application seeks planning permission for a logistics hub comprising a three-
storey block of approximately 7,800 square metres Gross Internal Area (GIA) 
accommodating offices, laboratories and associated ancillary uses; a yard; a garage 
and storage building; a single-storey gatehouse; and associated internal access roads, 
car and cycle parking, landscaping, lighting, drainage and boundary treatments. 

1.3 The application site comprises of approximately 4.1ha of agricultural land and a private 
access road from Gables Way that runs alongside Xtrac. The agricultural parcel of 
land in which the site is located in is bounded by vegetation on all boundaries and has 
a slight gradient sloping from the north to the south. The site forms part of a Mineral 
Safeguarding Area and is in a Biodiversity Opportunity Area. There are a few Historic 
Environment Records within the site related to ‘find spots’. 

1.4 To the west of the site is Colthrop Industrial Estate. This is a Protected Employment 
Area. The application site is separated from the industrial estate by a soft landscape 
border and small area of woodland. Within this vegetated boundary are singular Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPOs) and one Area TPO. 

1.5 To the north of the application site is the A4 and beyond that access to Coxs Lane. To 
the north the land climbs towards the start of the North Wessex Downs National 
Landscape and Upper Bucklebury. Colthrop Manor, a Grade II listed building to the 
north, is identified as having views of the application site. 

1.6 To the south of the site is a small portion of the parcel agricultural land not proposed to 
be developed by this application. The railway line sits beyond the southern boundary 
of the site and the adjacent agricultural land.  

1.7 The eastern boundary is formed of a line of trees which separate the site from other 
parcels of agricultural land. Three sporadic dwellings are located within these fields 
and are over 200 metres from the application site. Public Right of Way footpath 
MIDG/8/1 to the east has views of the application site and is accessed from the A4 
approximately 270 metres from the eastern boundary of the site. 

1.8 The application proposes a main hub building (three storey office block with 
associated laboratories and ancillary uses) that will be positioned centrally within the 
site. The hub has a footprint of approximately 2816m2 and a maximum height of 16.7 
metres with the ground floor level reduced by 0.5 metres. To north of the hub building 
a garage block is proposed measuring approximately (w): 26 x (l): 60 x (h): 7.5 metres 
and external yard area and further north is a single storey ancillary building. To the 
south will be a single storey reception and car park. 

1.9 It is proposed that the primary access will be from Gables Way within Colthrop 
Industrial Estate. To access the site the existing private road next to Xtrac will be used. 
A secondary access is also proposed that will exit onto the A4 and is intended for 
minimal use. These will be linked by an internal road. 

1.10 Additional landscaping is proposed primarily around the perimeter of the site. 

Page 32



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

2. Planning History 

2.1 The table below outlines the relevant planning history of the application site. 

Application Proposal Decision / 
Date 

21/02130/OUTMAJ Outline application for commercial B2 
(general industrial) and/or B8 (storage and 
distribution) development together with 
ancillary office space and associated 
landscaping, car parking, service yards and 
access. Matters to be considered: Access. 

Approved 

13.05.2022. 

 

2.2 21/02130/OUTMAJ granted outline permission for the erection of three 
industrial/warehouse units on site across a larger 5ha parcel of land. It was indicated 
that Unit 1 would provide 6037m2 of B8 with 606m2 of B1, Unit 2 would be 9324m2 of 
B8 plus 960m2 of B1 and Unit 3 would be 2411m2 of B8 and 198m2 of ancillary office 
space. Parameter Plans limited the northern part of the site to a maximum ridge line of 
10.5 metres and the southern sections of the site to 15 metres. Landscape buffers 
were also set out. 

2.3 This permission is extant and therefore could still be implemented. Applications for 
reserved matters would need to be made to the local planning authority by no later 
than 13th May 2025. This permission represents a valid fall-back position. 

3. Legal and Procedural Matters 

3.1 Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA):  An EIA Screening Opinion was issued 

by the Council on 18th December 2023 under reference: 23/02716/SCREEN. The 
Screening Opinion advised that the development was Schedule 2 development of the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. 
This was because it met/exceed the relevant threshold in paragraph 10(a) (Industrial 
estate development projects). However, taking into account Schedule 3 it is not 
considered that the development would have significant effects on the environment. 
Accordingly, the screening opinion considered the development was not EIA 
development. The proposed development as part of this application has not 
significantly changed from that outlined in the EIA screening, nor have consultation 
responses been received that indicate that the Council need to amend the screening 
decision. It is therefore considered an Environmental Statement is not required. 

3.2 Publicity:  Publicity has been undertaken in accordance with Article 15 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, 
and the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.  Site notices were displayed 
on 24th January 2024 on the Bath Road and Gables Way, with a deadline for 
representations of 14th February 2024.  A public notice was displayed in the Newbury 
Weekly News on 18th January 2024; with a deadline for representations of 1st February 
2024. 

3.3 Local Financial Considerations: Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 (as amended) provides that a local planning authority must have regard to a 
local finance consideration as far as it is material.  Whether or not a ‘local finance 
consideration’ is material to a particular decision will depend on whether it could help 
to make the development acceptable in planning terms. It would not be appropriate to 

Page 33



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

make a decision based on the potential for the development to raise money for a local 
authority or other government body.  The table below identifies the relevant local 
financial considerations for this proposal. 

Consideration Applicable 
to proposal 

Material to 
decision 

Refer to 
paragraph(s) 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) No No  

New Homes Bonus No No  

Affordable Housing No No  

Public Open Space or Play Areas No No  

Developer Contributions (S106) No No  

Job Creation Yes Yes 6.18 and 6.19 

 

3.4 Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED): In determining this application the Council is 

required to have due regard to its obligations under the Equality Act 2010.  The 
Council must have due regard to the need to achieve the following objectives: 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

3.5 Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to— 

(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 

(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

(c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate 
in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

3.6 The key equalities protected characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief.  Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, 
the duty is to have regard to and remove or minimise disadvantage.  In considering the 
merits of this planning application, due regard has been given to these objectives. 

3.7 There is no indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that 
persons with protected characteristics as identified by the Act have or will have 
different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning 

Page 34



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

application and there would be no significant adverse impacts as a result of the 
development. 

3.8 Human Rights Act: The development has been assessed against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act, including Article 1 of the First Protocol (Protection of property), 
Article 6 (Right to a fair trial) and Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life 
and home) of the Act itself.  The consideration of the application in accordance with 
the Council procedures will ensure that views of all those interested are taken into 
account.  All comments from interested parties have been considered and reported in 
summary in this report, with full text available via the Council’s website. 

3.9 It is acknowledged that there are certain properties where they may be some impact 
(this can be mitigated by conditions where relevant). However, any interference with 
the right to a private and family life and home arising from the scheme as a result of 
impact on residential amenity is considered necessary in a democratic society in the 
interests of the economic well-being of the district and wider area and is proportionate 
given the overall benefits of the scheme in terms of the social benefits in supporting 
infrastructure delivery. 

3.10 Any interference with property rights is in the public interest and in accordance with the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 regime for controlling the development of land. 
This recommendation is based on the consideration of the proposal against adopted 
Development Plan policies, the application of which does not prejudice the Human 
Rights of the applicant or any third party. 

3.11 Listed building setting: Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special regard must be had to the 
desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 16(2) has the same 
requirement for proposals for listed building consent.  The nearest listed buildings are 
Orchard Cottage (approximately 530 metres away) and Colthrop Manor 
(approximately 690 metres away). The development will not impact on the setting of 
the listed buildings, but Colthrop Manor is identified as part of the landscape 
assessment as having views to the site. 

3.12 Conservation areas: Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.  No nearby 
Conservation Areas that will be impacted by the development. 

4. Consultation 

Statutory and non-statutory consultation 

4.1 The table below summarises the consultation responses received during the 
consideration of the application.   

Midgham Parish 
Council: 

Objection. This is due to flooding risk, height of the building and 
concerns about the ribbon of development along the A4. 

Adjacent: 
Thatcham Town 
Council: 

Support the principle. Note comments by Midgham Parish 
Council. Suggestions to reduce height, include EV charging 
points and solar panels on the roof. 

No comments to make on amendments. 

Page 35



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

WBC Highways: A request for additional information was made during the 
application, this resolved several concerns. An objection is 
maintained for the secondary access and traffic impact. 
However, subsequent discussions have identified conditions to 
address the objections. 

WBC Public 
Protection 
Officer: 

Additional information required which can be dealt with by use of 
conditions including noise of plant and machinery, unforeseen 
contamination, lighting strategy, construction method statement, 
hours of construction work. 

WBC Lead Local 
Flood Authority: 

Following the submission of additional information, no objections 
subject to conditions for a finalised drainage strategy and 
establishing existing channel capacity. 

WBC Economic 
Development 
Officer: 

Support. Positive economic outputs from proposed development 
and would have access to sustainable transport in accordance 
with the Economic Development Strategy. 

WBC Transport 
Policy: 

No objection. Request for framework travel plan condition. 

WBC 
Environment 
Delivery Officer: 

The proposal is inconsistent with the requirements of Policy 
CS15. 

WBC 
Archaeological 
Officer: 

No further archaeological investigation required. 

WBC Minerals 
and Waste 
Officer: 

Following requests for further information it is advised that 
Officers need to be satisfied that the development would meet 
tests in Policy 7 and 9 of the MWLP. Informative recommended. 

WBC Tree 
Officer: 

Following the request for further information, no objections. 
Conditions requested for tree protection scheme, arboricultutal 
method statement and soft and hard landscaping scheme. 

WBC Ecology 
Officer: 

Sufficient information has been provided. Conditions requested 
for biodiversity method statement, ecological management plan, 
information relating to Great Crested Newts district licence, 
lighting strategy, ecological enhancements and landscape 
ecological management plan. 

WBC Planning 
Policy Officer: 

Summary of relevant policies. Principle for industrial 
development established under 21/02130/OUTMAJ in 
accordance with proposed Local Plan Review (LPR) allocation. 
Additional information required on the sequential approach for 
change to office development. The proposed office is 
inconsistent with the emerging LPR but recognise limited weight 
to be given and change in land ownership. Request for condition 
to restrict development to Use Class E(g). 

GCN District 
Licence Officer: 

Once an application for the applicants to use the Council’s 
District Licence was received, conditions requiring compliance 
with the licence and mitigation measures are recommended. 

Page 36



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Active Travel 
England: 

Standing advice should be followed. 

Environment 
Agency: 

Do not wish to make comment on the application. 

Network Rail: No objections in principle. Request for planning obligation. 

No comments 
received from: 

WBC Waste Officer, WBC Access Officer, Natural England, 
Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust, 
Thames Water Utilities, SPOKES, Thames Valley Police: 
Design, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, Scottish and 
Southern Electric and Southern Gas Network. 

 

Public representations 

4.2 Representations have been received from 13 contributors, 1 of which support, and 12 
of which object to the proposal. 

4.3 The full responses may be viewed with the application documents on the Council’s 
website, using the link at the start of this report.  In summary, the following 
issues/points have been raised: 

 One letter of support for principle of the proposed development. 

 With to repeat the same objections as to those on 21/02130/OUTMAJ. 

 Spread of industrial development: Loss of valuable green space and separation 
between settlements: visual benefits of space and agricultural production. 

 Flooding concerns: increased hard surfacing, surface & ground water flooding, 
retaining existing drainage ditches, part of floodplain and consideration to 
increase rainfall due to climate change. 

 Design and visual impact: Height and materials out of character with rural area, 
eyesore. 

 Noise, traffic and light pollution following completion of development: request 
for noise impact assessment, currently congested roads. 

 Impacts during construction. 
 Impacts to wildlife. 

 Concerns with the description of development. 

 Amendments and conditions requested: retention of eastern tree belt, reduction 
in height sought, restrictions of lighting applied, restrictions to vehicle 
movements during the night, solar panels should be provided, colour of 
cladding should be sympathetic. 

 Comments on amended plans: do not address previous objections, does not 
accord with advice from Landscape Consultant, consideration should be given 
to visual impact in winter months, long time for landscaping to establish. 

5. Planning Policy 

5.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  The following policies of the statutory development plan are relevant to the 
consideration of this application. 

Page 37



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

 Policies ADPP1, ADPP3, ADPP6, CS5, CS9, CS10, CS11, CS13, CS14, 
CS15, CS16, CS17, CS18, CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026 (WBCS). 

 Policies OVS.5, OVS.6, TRANS.1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 
1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 

 Policies 7 and 9 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2022-2037). 
 

5.2 The following material considerations are relevant to the consideration of this 
application: 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 North Wessex Downs AONB Management Plan 2019-24 

 WBC Quality Design SPD (2006) 

 Emerging West Berkshire Local Plan Review (2022-2037) 

 Employment Land Review (2020), Addendum (2022) and Update (2024) 
 Local Transport Plan 

 WBC Cycle and Motorcycle Advice and Standards for New Development 

 West Berkshire Landscape Character Assessment (2019) 

6. Appraisal 

6.1 The main issues for consideration in this application are: 

 Principle of development 

 Landscape and visual impacts 

 Tree protection 

 Environmental and amenity considerations 

 Transport and highway impacts 

 Minerals sterilisation 
 Sustainable construction and energy efficiency 

 Flood risk and drainage 

 Biodiversity and biodiversity net gain 

 Parish and Town Council representations 

Principle of development 

Current development plan 

6.2 Policy ADPP1 sets out the spatial strategy for the District. The policy advises that most 
development will be within or adjacent to settlements included in the settlement 
hierarchy and related to transport accessibility of the settlements and their levels of 
services and the availability of suitable sites. Policy ADPP1 seeks that intensive 
employment generating uses such as offices are directed to town centre areas. The 
scale and density of development will be related to the site’s current or proposed 
accessibility, character and surroundings. Within the open countryside limited 
appropriate development only is allowed providing it meets an identified need and 
maintains a strong rural economy. 

6.3 The application site is located within the East Kennet Valley spatial area and therefore 
Policy ADPP6 applies. The policy recognises the role of Protected Employment Areas. 
The policy seeks development within the open countryside to be strictly controlled. 

Page 38



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.4 Due to the proximity of Thatcham, it is considered that Policy ADPP3 is relevant. This 
policy sets out the spatial strategy for Thatcham where the support for local 
employment through designated Protected Employment Areas (including Colthrop) will 
continue to sustain a strong employment base. Small scale office development will be 
supported within Thatcham Town Centre. 

6.5 Policy CS5 requires the Council to work with infrastructure providers and stakeholders 
to identify requirements for infrastructure provision and services for new development 
seeking to coordinate the delivery of infrastructure whilst protecting local amenities 
and environmental quality. 

6.6 Policy CS9 seeks to facilitate and promote the growth and forecasted change of 
business development. The policy seeks to direct new office development towards 
town and district centres as outlined in Policy CS11. If no suitable sites are available 
within an existing centre then a sequential approach will be taken: first focusing on 
edge centre brownfield and protected employment areas; then out of centre brownfield 
sites and protected employment areas; and then other existing employment sites and 
premises not in an edge of centre or out of centre location. Business development 
should be in keeping with the surrounding environment, not conflict with existing uses, 
and promote sustainable transport. 

6.7 Policy CS11 seeks to direct main town centres uses (including office space) to town 
and district centres within that policy. 

6.8 Due to the location of the site outside of the settlement boundary, Policy CS10 is also 
relevant which encourages proposals to diversify the rural economy particularly where 
they are located in or adjacent to Rural Service Centres and Service Villages. 

6.9 WBCS is the Council’s current adopted plan and the policies described above are 
given full weight. Planning Policy Officers advised that a sequential test is required in 
accordance with Policy CS9 to support the out-of-town centre location for the 
proposed offices. 

Employment Land Review (ELR): 

6.10 The ELR assesses the future demand and supply of employment land across the 
District to establish employment land requirements. The ELR also provides an up to 
date review of the West Berkshire property market, reviewing patterns of activity in the 
office and industrial markets. Therefore, this is an important material consideration. 

6.11 The ELR indicates that there is generally less demand for office space in Thatcham 
compared to Newbury and Theale. The town centre is small with a low level of office 
stock and out of town stock is located at Colthrop Industrial Estate and Thatcham 
Business Village. The ELR considers Colthrop Industrial Estate to be the District’s 
premier logistics and distribution park, home to a range of warehousing and light 
industrial and office units. 

6.12 This document forms the evidence base for the Emerging Local Plan Review using 
these findings to allocate land for particular employment uses. 

Emerging West Berkshire Local Plan Review (LPR) 2022-2039 

6.13 Policy SP20 of the LPR sets out the strategic approach to employment land over the 
plan period to facilitate growth and forecasted change of business development over 
the plan period. The supporting text advises that there is a requirement to deliver 
51,000sqm of office floorspace and 91,000sqm of industrial floorspace. The amount of 
floorspace was updated in 2024 under the ELR to 104,000sqm of industrial floorspace 
and 60,000sqm of office floorspace. 

Page 39



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.14 Policy SP21 allocates the land east of Colthrop Industrial Estate, which includes the 
application site, for the delivery of approximately 20,400sqm of B2/B8 uses across the 
site. Details of the site allocation including parameters are set out within Policy ESA1. 
The allocation is approximately 5 hectares of which 4.2 hectares form the application 
site. The LPR proposes to extend the Colthrop Industrial Estate Protected 
Employment Area (renamed Designated Employment Areas) to include the full 5 
hectares of land including the application site. 

6.15 Planning permission 21/02130/OUTMAJ would meet the majority of the proposed 
Policy SP21 allocation by providing 19,536sqm of B2/B8 floorspace and currently 
remains extant. 

6.16 Planning Policy were consulted on this application. Whilst the proposed policies show 
the intended direction of travel, limited weight can be given to the LPR policies as 
these are currently at examination in which the Inspector may wish to make 
modifications. 

Economic considerations: 

6.17 The NPPF at section 6 seeks development that would build a strong, competitive 
economy. Paragraph 85 advises that decisions should help to create conditions in 
which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Planning decisions are required to 
recognise and address specific locational requirements of different sectors. The NPPF 
also advises that planning decisions should enable the sustainable growth and 
expansion of all businesses in rural areas including well-designed beautiful new 
buildings. 

6.18 The logistics hub is understood to provide a facility for approximately 362 full time 
equivalent staff with potential growth to 487 staff by 2045. It is advised that the hub 
would ensure the retention of jobs in the region and potential for up to 125 new jobs to 
be created up to 2045. 

6.19 The Economic Development Team offered support for this application as the inward 
investment would result in a range of economic outputs for the district which would 
include high-quality local employment, increased economic activity with the potential of 
staff using local business, support for related industries and the attraction of talent and 
investment due to development of modern facilities with public transport links. The 
logistics hub has the potential to stimulate economic growth. 

Sustainable development: 

6.20 Policy ADPP1 seeks development to be directed to settlements with transport 
accessibility especially by public transport, cycling, and walking. There is a 
requirement for intensive uses to be located in areas with the supporting infrastructure 
and access through active travel options. Furthermore, Policy CS13 seeks to locate 
development in sustainable locations reducing the need to travel and promoting 
sustainable travel. 

6.21 Within the supporting documentation it is identified that there are bus stops within 
walking distance from the application site which include services between Reading 
and Newbury. In addition, cycling infrastructure have been added on the A4 from the 
roundabout at Gables Way and continues to the edge of Thatcham town. Thatcham 
train station is also accessible. 

6.22 The Highways Officer, Transport Policy Officer and Economic Development Officer all 
considered that the application site is located in a reasonably sustainable location with 
opportunities for employees to use different modes of transport to access the site. 

Page 40



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Loss of agricultural land: 

6.23 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to recognise the wider 
benefits of the natural local environment including economic and other benefits from 
the best and most versatile agricultural land. 

6.24 A Preliminary Agricultural Land Classification Assessment has been undertaken 
advising the land was Grade 3 (Good to Moderate Quality). Grade 3 is split into two 
parts 3(a) which forms the best and most versatile agricultural land whilst 3(b) would 
only have a moderate quality. Mapping identified that the site would have 20-60% 
likelihood that the land would be the best and most versatile agricultural land. Further 
testing would be required to determine if the site was 3(a) or 3(b). A preliminary 
assessment advises that the soils would likely fall in 3(b). However, further survey 
work would be required to confirm this. 

Assessment: 

6.25 Supporting information submitted with the application advises that there is a particular 
need for the logistics hub, including that it would provide a purpose-built facility to 
move staff from older, less efficient buildings. The building will meet a requirement of 
Thames Valley Police. Policy CS5 supports this need and requires the Council to work 
with infrastructure providers to coordinate delivery of infrastructure. 

6.26 The identified need and the economic benefits demonstrate that the proposal would be 
appropriate limited development. It would meet an identified need and maintain a 
strong rural economy and would comply with Policy ADPP1 for sites in the open 
countryside. Maintaining the rural economy also supports the aims of Policy CS10.  

6.27 Policy ADPP1, CS9 and CS11 direct intensive uses such as offices to town centres. 
Where the proposed hub falls within an office use and is located out of a town centre a 
sequential approach is required. Supporting information advises that the applicant 
carried out five land searches including looking for opportunities to redevelop or 
refurbish. Requirements of the proposed development include space for garaging and 
car parking that must be located in the policing region. The application site met a 
sufficient number of the applicants search criteria and was available. Other sites were 
dismissed as they did not have sufficient space to meet the needs of the applicant. It is 
considered that this review satisfies the requirement of a sequential test and justifies 
the out of town centre location for the office development. 

6.28 The proposed logistics hub would be in an area in keeping with the surrounding 
environment and not conflict with existing uses. The site is immediately adjacent to 
Colthrop Industrial Estate Protected Employment Area where it is identified in the ELR 
that there are existing office units. Furthermore, it has been identified the location 
would be reasonably sustainable with options to use public transport, walking and 
cycling. This would accord with the sustainable location aims of Policies ADPP6, 
ADPP3, CS9 and CS13. 

6.29 There is a valid fall-back position in which 21/02130/OUTMAJ could be implemented 
for B2/B8 development. That permission has established the development of the 
greenfield site adjacent to Thatcham to meet an identified industrial development need 
and to meet a shortfall in the district. 

6.30 As a result of this valid fall-back position a further assessment of whether the land 
would be best and most versatile agricultural land was not sought because its loss has 
been established where the site has existing permission to be developed. In addition, 
the proposal would result in a small loss of agricultural land (Natural England are a 
statutory consultee on development involving the loss of 20ha agricultural land, giving 
an indication that the loss of agricultural land in this instance is small). 

Page 41



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.31 By developing the land for office use the proposed development of this application 
would be contrary to the emerging site allocation proposed in Policies SP20, SP21 and 
ESA1 of the LPR which allocates the site for industrial and storage B2/B8 uses. The 
existing permission would deliver 19,536sqm of B2/B8 floorspace to reduce the deficit 
identified in the ELR. The consequence of the proposed office development at the site 
is that it would have a negative impact on managing the district’s undersupply of B2/B8 
(industrial) floorspace. It is recognised that there has been a change in site ownership 
to the applicant of this application. As such the permission for B2/B8 floorspace is 
unlikely to be deliverable. The proposed logistics hub would however positively 
contribute towards the supply of office space in the district, which is recognised by 
Planning Policy. 

6.32 The proposed scheme would comply with the current adopted local plan for the 
reasons identified above. These policies have full weight, and it is considered there is 
a clear need for the development. The principle is also supported by the fall-back 
position that there is permission to develop the greenfield site to extend the Colthtop 
Industrial Estate which this proposal would also achieve. However, it would be 
contrary to the emerging LPR as it would not deliver the proposed allocation of 
industrial and storage B2/B8 use at this site. These emerging policies can only be 
given limited weight due to the stage of preparation the emerging plan is at. Given the 
full weight given to current policies it is considered that the principle of the logistics hub 
is acceptable. 

6.33 Offices fall under Use Class E which includes a range of uses. It is recommended that 
a condition is applied to limit the use of the development to Use Class E(g) relating 
solely to offices, research and development and light industrial processes. This would 
be in line with the existing uses within Colthrop Industrial Estate and with the proposal 
in the LPR to extend the current protected employment area. Another use within Use 
Class E could potentially conflict with the other uses at Colthrop Industrial Estate and 
the existing and emerging development plans. The Planning Policy Officer supports a 
condition restricting development to Use Class E(g). 

Landscape and visual impacts 

6.34 Policy CS14 seeks development that demonstrates a high quality and sustainable 
design that respects and enhances the character and appearance of the area and 
makes a positive contribution to quality of life. Proposals are required to make efficient 
use of land whilst respecting density, character, landscape and biodiversity of the 
surrounding area. 

6.35 Policy CS19 advises that new development will have particular regard to the sensitivity 
of the area to change and ensure that new development is appropriate. This is in 
terms of location, scale, and design in the context of the existing settlement form, 
pattern and character to ensure the diversity and distinctiveness of the landscape 
character within in the district is maintained. 

6.36 The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Appraisal which identifies 
the potential effects on the landscape by the development. Liz Allen a Chartered 
Member of the Landscape Institute reviewed the appraisal and associated documents 
to inform Officer’s assessment of the proposal. It was noted that the scheme would 
develop a greenfield site where the western boundary currently forms part of a 
significant buffer separating the industrial estate from the rural landscape.  

6.37 The main conclusion on the original scheme was that the height of the building (17.5 
metres for 50% of the built form) would be visible as a new urban style building in a 
rural setting which would conflict with Policies CS14 and CS19. However, it was 
considered that there were opportunities to amend the development to reduce the 

Page 42



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

impact and this could include: reducing the height of the building (the suggested 
reduction was to 15 metres); strengthening and widening the eastern and northern tree 
belts; and changes to the northern façade of the garage building. 

6.38 The applicants have submitted meaningful amendments seeking to address the 
recommendations made by the Landscape Consultant. Whilst it is recognised that the 
height of the hub has not been reduced to 15 metres there has been a significant 
decrease in height by approximately 1.3 metres. The amendments kept the step in 
roof height of the main building. It is now proposed to be approximately 16.7 metres 
high for approximately half the building and then steps down to approximately 14.1 
metres for the remainder of the building. The height would be reduced further where 
the main building is now proposed to be set into the ground by approximately 0.5 
metres. Overall, the highest part of the building would be 16.2 metres in total. It is 
understood that technical reasons (including drainage) prevented the building being 
sunk into the ground or reduced in height any further. Furthermore, the amendments 
include additional tree planting on both the northern and eastern boundaries to further 
mitigate the impact of urban form within the rural landscape. 

6.39 It is recognised that objections have been received regarding the height of the building 
and encroachment into the rural landscape. However, there is an implementable fall-
back position of the extant permission for 5ha of industrial buildings with a larger 
footprint than the proposed scheme. Whilst the proposed hub would exceed the 15 
metres height parameter agreed under the existing industrial scheme, it is considered 
the hub proposal would be an improvement than the extant permission. This is due to 
the smaller footprint of the buildings and land area, with the proposed landscaping 
retaining larger areas of greenspace. These differences between the schemes would 
mean the proposed hub would better integrate into the lower density of development to 
the western edge of Colthrop Industrial Estate whilst also responding to the rural 
setting beyond the Industrial Estate. 

6.40 The design of the scheme is considered good quality with consideration given to the 
National Design Guide. The development would be in-keeping with the neighbouring 
industrial estate. It is noted that objectors raised concerns with the materials used but 
the use of buff brick is present throughout the industrial estate in which this scheme is 
considered to relate to. Furthermore, the materials are intended to help mitigate the 
impact of the building within the landscape and on visual amenity. The northern façade 
of the garage will remain a blank elevation however this building is set down from the 
road due to changes in levels and with additional screening would not be prominent in 
the street scene. 

6.41 The proposed development would not have a direct impact on the setting of the North 
Wessex Downs National Landscape nor the listed Colthrop Manor. However, there 
would be views from both towards the development site. Both the reduction in height 
and additional landscaping is considered to mitigate impacts on these views. 

6.42 It is recommended that conditions are applied to secure a finalised schedule of 
materials, hard and soft landscaping schemes and site levels. The development 
involves changes in site levels and therefore a condition requiring details of how spoil 
and imported material would be dealt with is also recommended. 

6.43 It is acknowledged that development of a greenfield site will result in some loss of rural 
character. However, the applicants have engaged with the recommendations of the 
Landscape Consultant and it is considered that this has produced an improved 
scheme that would not result in a significantly harmful impact on the landscape. 
Furthermore, the scheme is intended to replicate the lower density development on the 
edge of Colthrop Industrial Estate whilst also retaining some separation. On balance 

Page 43



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

with the conditions identified the proposed development is considered to be in 
accordance with Policies CS14 and CS19. 

Tree protection 

6.44 Policy CS14 seeks development that respects the landscape and biodiversity of the 
surrounding area. Existing trees also provide a valuable biodiversity contribution and 
therefore should be conserved and enhanced where possible in accordance with 
Policy CS17. Trees also contribute to the landscape character of the area and 
therefore Policy CS19 is relevant seeking the conservation and enhancement of 
landscape character. 

6.45 On the application site the tree identified as T002 is a veteran tree; these are trees that 
have significant decay features that contribute to exceptional biodiversity, cultural and 
heritage value. The PPG advises that veteran trees are irreplaceable and therefore 
should not be lost unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable 
compensation strategy is in place. 

6.46 Adjacent to the site on the western boundary are 5 singular and one area TPO; these 
trees have statutory protection due to their amenity value. The details submitted with 
this application were considered satisfactory by the Council’s Tree Officer in terms of 
protection of the veteran tree and the TPOs.  

6.47 To ensure the protection of the veteran tree, TPOs and the existing trees and hedges 
to be retained at the site the Tree Officer has requested conditions for development to 
be carried out in accordance with the Tree Protection Plans, the submission of an 
Arboricultral Method Statement prior to development commencing and a scheme for 
details of hard and soft landscaping to be submitted prior to completion or occupation. 

6.48 Subject to these conditions the proposal would have an acceptable impact on trees is 
in accordance with Policies CS14, CS17 and CS19, the NPPF and the PPG. 

Environmental and amenity considerations 

6.49 Policy CS14 outlines that development that will have a positive contribution to the 
quality of life in the District. 

6.50 Saved Policy OVS.5 advises that development will only be permitted for development 
proposals that do not give rise to an unacceptable level of pollution to the environment. 
In order to minimise these impacts consideration is required to be given to equipment 
to minimise the harmful effect of emissions or locating potential nuisances to the least 
sensitive parts of the site. 

6.51 Saved Policy OVS.6 specifically focuses upon noise which requires development to 
take appropriate measures to minimise any adverse impact as a result of noise 
generated. Special considerations are required for noisy development near or within 
SSSIs or the North Wessex Downs National Landscape. Regard is required to be 
given to existing sources of noise, appropriate sound insultation measures and noise 
exposure levels. 

6.52 The nearest residential development is to the north and east of the application site. 
The nearest dwelling (to the north) is approximately 170 metres away from the site and 
to the north of the A4. Whilst, to the east the nearest dwelling is approximately 240 
metres from the application site boundary. 

Physical impact: 

Page 44



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.53 Due to the separation of the application site from the nearest dwellings and central 
position of the proposed buildings within the site, it is considered that the physical form 
of the proposals would not have a harmful impact on residential amenity this includes 
overbearing, overshadowing and privacy impacts. 

Noise pollution:  

6.54 It is noted that concerns have been raised regarding noise impact on nearby 
residential dwellings. It was agreed with the Environmental Health Officer that a 
condition could be applied that plant, machinery, and equipment installed should not 
exceed existing background noise levels. It is acknowledged that there may be some 
additional noise impacts from the use of the site. However, when taking into 
consideration the existing background noise (from the A4 and Industrial Estate), the 
screened boundary, separation distance, it is considered that the proposed condition 
for plant machinery noise levels would mitigate adequately the noise impacts of the 
development. 

Light pollution:  

6.55 Light pollution was also raised as a concern from objectors. It is acknowledged that the 
development of the site would result in increased light levels. It is identified in the 
Ecological Impact Assessment a maximum level of lux between 0 lux and 0.3 lux will 
fall from lamps on the horizontal plain at boundary features to the east and north of the 
proposed development buildings. This is a low level of illuminance which would not 
result in significantly harmful light spill to neighbours. It is also noted that mitigation is 
proposed at night including using motion sensors and dimming the lights between 
23:00 – 07:00. In addition, consideration will also be given to measures to reduce light 
spill such as cowls. The Environmental Health Officer raised no objections advising a 
condition should be applied to control external lighting. Screening from soft 
landscaping on the northern and eastern boundaries would also mitigate light spill from 
the proposed development. 

Land contamination:  

6.56 Supporting information advises that the overall contamination risk on site is low with no 
further surveys required. There is a potential for unexpected contamination to be 
encountered during the development. Environmental Health Officers raise no 
objections to these conclusions and advise that a condition should be applied to 
protected against any unexpected contamination should it be encountered. 

Construction impacts:  

6.57 The outline construction methodology indicates measures will need to be secured to 
minimise noise pollution during development. The Environmental Health Officer 
recommends that conditions are applied for a full Construction Method Statement and 
Construction Hours of Work to be applied to minimise disturbances to the nearby 
residential dwellings. The Construction Method Statement requires details of 
construction hours of work and deliveries to be provided therefore a separate 
construction hours of work condition is not recommended as this would be a 
duplication of the requirement. 

6.58 It is considered with the use of conditions the environment and amenity impacts would 
be mitigated and the proposal would accord with Policies CS14, OVS.5 and OVS.6. 

Page 45



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Transport and highway impacts 

6.59 Policy CS13 advises development that generates a transport impact will be required to 
reduce the need to travel, improve and promote health and safe travel seeking to 
facilitate sustainable travel. The policy seeks to mitigate the impact on the local 
transport network and strategic road network. 

6.60 Saved Policy TRANS.1 seeks to ensure that the needs of new development are met 
through the provision of a range of facilities including using sustainable modes of 
transport. The policy advises that the level of parking will depend on the availability of 
alternative modes of travel and to the maximum of the Council’s standards. 

Trip generation and traffic impact: 

6.61 The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment which advises that there 
would be 255 two-way trips (226 arriving, 29 leaving) in the AM peak (07:30-08:00) 
and 255 two-way trips (29 arriving, 226 leaving) in PM peak (15:30-16:30); this 
equates to 810 daily two-way trips. These trips have been justified based on full time 
equivalent staff and business needs. The Highways Officer accepted the trip 
generation calculations. Overall, this would be less trips than that granted under 
21/02130/OUTMAJ which was estimated at 980 trips per day. However, this proposal 
would increase the number of trips during peak hours. 

6.62 The trip generation has been calculated as a worst-case scenario based upon the 
majority of trips being undertaken by private vehicle. Traffic modelling has been 
undertaken from 2019 survey data, which is still considered robust, as traffic has only 
recently recovered from following the peak of the COVID pandemic. The modelling 
advises that broadly across peak hours the junctions would operate within their 
theoretical capacity. There is one in which it is identified that there would be a 
perceptible change of queuing at the Crematorium roundabout at the western 
approach. The report advises this would be slightly above the threshold of the junction 
but is modelled on a basis the development would create 100% new trips. The 
Highways Officer is checking some additional information and provide further 
comments in any update report if required. Planning Officers do not consider that there 
is evidence to demonstrate that the report is incorrect. Furthermore, due to the 
modelling taking the ‘worst case scenario’ of all movements to the site being by private 
vehicle, and the marginal exceedance in the threshold in one direction at one junction, 
it is considered that there is sufficient information for Officers to confirm the proposal 
would not result in severe impacts to the road network. The NPPF at paragraph 115 
advises that development should only be refused on highway grounds if the impacts 
on the road network would be severe.  

6.63 The Highway Officer is satisfied with the conclusions drawn from accident data that 
there is no road safety issue near the site that would give rise to highway concerns.  

6.64 Network Rail advise they have no objections in principle to the proposed development, 
although they do advise that there would likely be an increase in the use of Thatcham 
level crossing for which appropriate mitigation should be sought. Network Rail advise 
that this scheme could provide an opportunity to seek contributions through S106 to 
fund a project for a new bridge to address the current issues at the level crossing.  

6.65 It is necessary for planning obligations to meet three statutory tests under Regulation 
122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). These 
tests include it being necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development, fairly and reasonably related to the scale of 
the development. It is considered that there has been no evidence to support the 
justification that the development would directly impact the level crossing to warrant a 

Page 46



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

contribution to a new bridge nor is it clear how it would be proportionate to the scale of 
development. Therefore, the planning obligation has not been pursued on the basis it 
has not been demonstrated that the three statutory tests would be met. 

Site access: 

6.66 The proposed development seeks to create the primary access from a private road 
onto Gables Way within Colthrop Industrial Estate. It is proposed a smaller secondary 
access would allow for vehicles to exit only to the left onto the A4. 

6.67 With the submission of additional information, the Highway Officer is largely satisfied 
with the site access from Gables Way. It is agreed that it is a positive to relocate the 
main access from the A4 (approved under 21/02130/OUTMAJ) to Gables Way. 
However, the Highways Officer does require further detail of the footway and 
pedestrian access throughout the site which could be secured through use of a 
condition. 

6.68 Concerns were raised regarding the secondary access onto the A4 due to the number 
of vehicles potentially leaving via that access and achieving the correct visibility 
splays. It is not possible to provide the required sight lines on to the A4 due to the 
presence of a regularly used layby on the A4 to the east. The Highways Officer 
considers that there are some contradictions in the information submitted that it would 
be used for emergency access only but also with controlled vehicle egress at other 
times. Permission 21/02130/OUTMAJ sought to widen the carriageway to overcome 
the issue of the visibility at the access. This is not proposed as part of this application. 
Therefore, the Highways Officer advises that there would be an objection to the use of 
this access for any exit of vehicles other than infrequent emergency purposes. Officers 
consider that a planning condition could be used to make the development acceptable 
and address the objections of the Highway Officer. This would limit the use of the 
secondary access for limited emergency purposes, final wording of the condition is 
being agreed with the Highways Officer and will be provided in the update report.  

6.69 Conditions are requested for the further details of the accesses including surfacing 
arrangements at access, details of the primary access and visibility splays at 
secondary access. It is also recommended a condition is applied the primary access to 
be provided prior to occupation of the development. 

Parking, servicing and refuse: 

6.70 The application proposed 369 parking spaces (including visitor car parking and 18 
disabled bays). General Arrangement Plan Sheet 2 indicates there will be 37 electric 
vehicle charging points with Sheet 3 indicating that the provision for the future is to 
provide an additional 60 electric vehicle charging points. A cycle shelter is proposed 
that will accommodate 60 cycle parking spaces. With the submission of additional 
information, the Highways Officer was satisfied with the provisions made for parking 
on the site. Conditions are recommended to secure parking, cycle parking and electric 
vehicle charging points.  

6.71 Conditions are requested to secure manoeuvres within the site following the condition 
to restrict the use of secondary access. 

Sustainable & active travel: 

6.72 The Transport Assessment describes the existing site accessibility; identifying links 
within the site to Thatcham Railway Station, dedicated cycle lane on the Bath Road 
and nearby bus stops. It has been identified that the site is in a reasonably sustainable 
location. 

Page 47



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.73 Active Travel England require Officers to assess the scheme against their standing 
advice. It is considered that the development would generally be in compliance with 
the advice. It identifies different modes of transport that employees could use and 
proposes a travel plan to encourage the uptake of sustainable transport options. 
Encouraging other transport methods and reducing the need for travel would assist in 
aims of improving air quality and reducing carbon emissions.  Whilst local amenities 
are a cycle/bus ride from the development site access to public transport is walkable 
with roads in the area served by street lighting and dropped kerb crossings. 
Furthermore, the cycle parking provision would be in excess of LTN 1/20 guidance. 
Plans indicate users being able to walk within the site, but the Highways Officer has 
requested further information for this. 

6.74 It is acknowledged that multimodal trips have not been accounted for. This is because, 
due to the nature of the site, it is expected that private vehicles would account for most 
movements (this is accounted for in modelling). This was accepted by the Highways 
Officer. However, it is noted that there would be an encouragement of using 
sustainable travel methods and monitoring of these would be secured through a 
framework travel plan. The Transport Policy Officer welcomes the commitment to the 
framework travel plan but advises that this would need to be agreed prior to the 
commencement of the development rather than after 3 months of occupation. It is 
considered that development could commence on site before details of this are agreed 
but suggest that a condition is applied for the framework travel plan to be agreed prior 
to the occupation of the development. 

6.75 It is recognised that because of the development there would be an impact upon the 
highway network. However, it is considered that the impact would not be severe to 
substantiate a refusal of this application. By the use of conditions, the development 
would comply with the requirements of Policy CS13 and Saved Policy TRANS.1. 

Minerals sterilisation 

6.76 The application includes the importation of material on site to create necessary site 
levels. Policy 7 of the MWLP advises that proposals for land raising are usually 
refused except where the permanent deposit of inert material is an essential element 
of another beneficial and necessary development proposal. 

6.77 The application site is also located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA). Policy 9 
of MWLP advises that non-mineral development within a safeguarding area may be 
considered acceptable if the proposal would not detrimentally affect the extraction of 
underlying mineral resources or it meets the following clauses: 

 it can be demonstrated that there is no economic or potential economic value or 
other valid planning reasons why the mineral cannot be extracted, 

 where partial/total extraction could take place prior to commencement of the 
proposed development, 

 the development outweighs the need to conserve the mineral resources or forms 
part of a site allocated within an adopted local policy. 

6.78 The application is accompanied with a Minerals and Resource Assessment. This 
assessment demonstrated that there are technical challenges and environmental 
consequences that mean that the economic importance of the minerals on site is low. 
The Minerals and Waste Officer did require further details on the importation of 
materials into the site and whether incidental extraction had been considered.  

Page 48



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

6.79 With the additional information the Minerals and Waste Officer advises that it is likely 
that some of the materials to be used for level changes would be waste (ie not primary 
aggregate), which would be a preferred inert material to be imported to the site. The 
Minerals and Waste officer notes no minerals would be extracted from the site as part 
of the development. Therefore, it is for the Planning Officer to determine whether the 
need for the proposed development outweighs the need to conserve the mineral 
resources and the deposit of inert material is an essential element of a beneficial 
development. 

6.80 The proposed site level changes are required for the control and discharge of surface 
water as part of the scheme. As discussed within the principle the development has 
benefits in supporting the operations of the applicant and meeting a particular 
identified need. Planning Officers are of the view that the development would comply 
with Policy 7 and 9 of the MWLP where the deposit of material is essential, and the 
development outweighs the need to conserve the mineral resources which are 
relatively limited in their potential economic value. 

Sustainable construction and energy efficiency 

6.81 Policy CS15 seeks that new non-residential development will be BREEAM Excellent. 
Major development shall also achieve Zero Carbon from renewable energy and 
zero/low carbon energy sources unless it can be demonstrated that such provision is 
not technically or economically feasible. 

6.82 The Supporting Statement for the need for the proposed development advises that the 
development is intended to deliver economic, social, and environmental value for the 
public purse. The aim of the development is to replace less efficient buildings with a 
new building. 

6.83 However, the Environment Delivery Officer has raised that the development is 
inconsistent with the requirements of Policy CS15 in that neither BREEAM nor net 
zero carbon would be met. The policy does allow for these requirements not to be 
complied with provided it is not technically or economically feasible. Officers are 
satisfied there are specific reasons due to the particular identified needs of the 
development as to why the requirements of Policy CS15 would not be met. 

6.84 To secure the best possible for this development, it has been agreed that conditions 
could be applied to achieve some reduction in carbon emissions from the 
development. The proposal includes the installation of onsite renewable energy 
generation. It is proposed a condition is applied to secure the use of renewable 
energies and a carbon emission reduction measures (including regulated and 
unregulated energy) from a baseline to be agreed. This would in part be verified 
through the submission of a BRUKL (Building Regulations Part L) assessment. 

6.85 The proposed development would conflict with the requirements of Policy CS15. 
However, it is recognised that the applicants have tried to achieve the best solution to 
achieving some carbon reduction for the proposed development and the policy has 
allowance for feasibility issues. 

Flood risk and drainage 

6.86 Policy CS16 requires a sequential approach, in accordance with the NPPF, to be 
strictly applied across the District. Developments within areas of any flood risk will only 
be accepted if it is demonstrated that it is an appropriate location, and no suitable 
alternative sites are available at lower flood risk. A Flood Risk Assessment is required 
as the site is over 1 hectare. The proposal is required to demonstrate that there would 

Page 49



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

not be a detrimental impact to flow of water, measures to manage flood risk and that 
any appropriate mitigation measures are provided. 

6.87 Policy CS16 also requires that surface water will be managed in a sustainable manner 
through the implementation of sustainable drainage measures in accordance with best 
practice. 

6.88 The Flood Risk Assessment accompanying the application advises the site is within 
Flood Zone 1 and therefore sequential testing is not required. The site does have 
areas of low surface water flood risk particularly on the western boundary and south-
east corner of the site. There is some area of high surface water flood risk within the 
north part of the site and to the north of the site, but this should not impact on the 
development. It is identified that two thirds of the site has high groundwater levels. 
Along the west boundary of the application site is a channel in which it is indicated that 
it transports water from a watercourse to the north of the A4. 

6.89 The Flood Risk Assessment identifies that the management of surface water flows 
would prevent an increase in flood risk on and off site. The General Arrangement 
Plans accompanying the application propose the use of swales, stormwater 
attenuation basis, attenuation basins and rainwater garden planting. The Lead Local 
Flood Authority are satisfied with the principle of the proposed drainage measures 
managing surface water in the site.  

6.90 The information submitted with the application has been consulted upon with the Lead 
Local Flood Authority who raise no objections subject to conditions. It is recommended 
that full details of a drainage strategy are agreed prior to the commencement of 
development including establishing the capacity of the existing channel within the site. 
With conditions, it is considered that the development would be in accordance with 
Policy CS16. 

Biodiversity and biodiversity net gain 

6.91 Policy CS17 requires biodiversity assets across the District to be conserved and 
enhanced. The policy states that all new development should maximise opportunities 
to achieve net gains in biodiversity. Opportunities should be taken to create links 
between natural habitat within Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. 

6.92 The application was submitted before 12th February 2024 and therefore 10% 
biodiversity net gain is not a statutory requirement for this major application. 

6.93 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Impact Appraisal. This includes desk 
studies and further detailed surveys for protected species. The report identifies a 
range of ecological features and the potential impacts and effects as a result of the 
development. The report suggests a range of measures to avoid, mitigate and 
compensate for any harm to habitats and protected species. Conclusions advise that 
there would be no significant residual impacts on ecological features. 

6.94 The Council’s Ecology Officer was satisfied that sufficient information has been 
provided and that by using conditions an acceptable impact on biodiversity could be 
secured. Conditions include a Biodiversity Method Statement, submission of 
Ecological Management Plan, Lighting Strategy and Ecological Enhancements. The 
Ecological Management Plan and Biodiversity Method Statement are recommended to 
be combined into one Construction Environmental Management Plan condition. 

6.95 NatureSpace who hold the Council’s District Licence for Great Crested Newts have 
reviewed the application and advised the applicant’s either need to apply to be 
covered under the District Licence or carry out further survey work. The applicants 

Page 50



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

have applied for works to be carried out under the District Licence. Confirmation has 
been received that the District Licence can cover the proposed works. Naturespace 
require conditions to be applied so that the developer meets the conditions of the 
licence and to ensure mitigation of the impact on Great Crested Newts. 

6.96 Although not a statutory requirement for this application, a Biodiversity Net Gain report 
has been submitted with this application. The development would deliver 39.19% net 
gain in area habitats, 38.39% increase for hedgerows and 0.61% for watercourse 
habitats. The report does acknowledge that not all trading rules are met for hedgerows 
and watercourses. 

6.97 The Council’s Ecologist was satisfied with the calculations when read in conjunction 
with the Ecological Impact Assessment. They recommend a condition for a Landscape 
Ecological Management Plan to secure the biodiversity improvements. 

6.98 The proposed development would both conserve and significantly enhance 
biodiversity at the site and therefore complies with Policy CS17. 

Town and Parish Council representations 

6.99 The site is within the Parish of Midgham and the spur road is within the boundary of 
Thatcham Town Council. The Parish and Town Council comments are outlined in the 
table at 4.1 above. Paragraphs 6.86-6.90 above outline the flood risk considerations 
and conclude that this can be accommodated by the development and mitigated by 
conditions. The section on landscape and visual impacts above outlines the reduction 
made to the height of the proposed buildings and that the visual impact can be 
softened by additional landscaping. Whilst the concerns regarding ribbon development 
along the A4 are noted, there is an extant permission for this site and the site has 
been proposed for allocation through the Local Plan Review. It has previously been 
found acceptable for development to occur on this site. Electric vehicle charging is 
proposed, and a condition recommended to secure enough provision. Onsite 
renewable energy generation is anticipated as part of meeting the recommended 
condition to reduce carbon emissions from the development. The issues raised by the 
Parish and Town Councils have therefore been duly considered.   

7. Planning Balance and Conclusion 

7.1 The principle of development of the site has been established through the extant 
permission for industrial development. A clear identified need for Thames Valley Police 
has been established for the proposed hub and a sequential approach applied to 
demonstrate there aren’t alternative sites for the hub in a town centre. The principle of 
the development is therefore supported by Policies ADPP1, ADPP3, ADPP6, CS9 and 
CS10. Furthermore, the location of the proposed development would also be in a 
reasonably sustainable location with opportunities to encourage sustainable and active 
travel. This supports the requirements of Policies ADPP1, CS13 and Saved Policy 
TRANS.1. The principle and reasonably sustainable location are given significant 
weight in the planning balance. 

7.2 The proposed development would deliver social benefits. This includes supporting 
infrastructure delivery in the district due to the building meeting policing needs and 
their function in supporting society. This is given substantial weight. 

7.3  Furthermore, there would be the potential creation of new jobs during construction 
and once the building is in operation. The office development would also support 
related industries and local businesses and attract talent to the area. These economic 
benefits are given moderate weight. 

Page 51



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

7.4 The development would also achieve environmental benefits such as achieving a 
significant Biodiversity Net Gain above that usually expected this is given significant 
weight.  

7.5 In addition, the application proposes measures to minimise the environmental impact 
by mitigating ecology, environmental, amenity and tree impacts and the management 
of surface water through sustainable drainage measures. These are given neutral 
weight in the planning balance because these measures ensure the development 
complies with policy. 

7.6 The loss of rural character and visual impact does attract minor weight against the 
development. This is because amendments were secured to reduce the height of the 
hub improving the impact of the development on the landscape and visual amenity. 

7.7 It is recognised that using the application site for an office development would impact 
on the Council’s delivery of industrial development and the proposed employment site 
allocation within the emerging LPR.  The implication for the allocation of the site for 
industrial development in the LPR cannot be mitigated but the proposed allocation 
policy attracts limited weight. This is given moderate negative weight in the planning 
balance. However, the scheme would contribute to a need for office space in the 
district and respond better to the rural setting than the extant permission. 

7.8 The scheme would not meet the requirements in Policy CS15 in which a justification 
has been provided as to why this is not feasible. It is acknowledged that the applicants 
have worked to secure the best they can achieve in terms of sustainable construction 
and renewable energy. Therefore, minor negative weight is given to this conflict with 
policy. 

7.9 Due consideration has been given to the Highways Officer objection to the A4 egress 
and it is recommended this is dealt with by way of a condition restricting its use. 
Regarding the safeguarding of minerals, the benefits of the development results in the 
development complying with the requirements of Policies 7 and 9 of the MWLP. Both 
of these attract neutral weight in the planning balance. 

7.10 In the overall planning balance, it is considered that the benefits of the proposed 
development – principally supporting a policing need and the associated social 
benefits of this – attract substantial weight in favour of granting planning permission. 
There are further economic and environmental benefits that have attracted both 
significant and moderate weight. There are negative implications, but appropriate 
mitigation will be secured by the planning permission. Overall, it is considered that the 
benefits of granting planning permission significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
adverse effects.  Therefore, the application is recommended for conditional approval. 

8. Full Recommendation 

8.1 To delegate to the Development Manager to GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 
subject to the conditions listed below.  

8.2 AND, delegate to the Development Manager to issue a further decision notice to the 
applicant substantially the same as that below but including parts of conditions that 
relate to confidential information.  

8.3 AND, delegate to the Development Manager to issue decision notices including 
making any minor and or consequential amendments to conditions. 

Page 52



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Conditions 

1. Commencement of development 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:   To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

2. Approved plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans/documents: 
 

i) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-DR-AR-210001 P2 (Location Plan) received on 
27.03.2024; 

ii) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-DR-AR-210004 P2 (Site Plan- Proposed) 
received on 27.03.2024; 

iii) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-401001 P05 (External General 
Arrangement Plan (Sheet 1 of 4)) received on 25.03.2024; 

iv) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-401002 P05 (External General 
Arrangement Plan (Sheet 2 of 4)) received on 02.04.2024; 

v) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-401003 P05 (External General 
Arrangement Plan (Sheet 3 of 4)) received on 25.03.2024; 

vi) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-401004 P04 (External General 
Arrangement Plan (Sheet 4 of 4)) received on 22.12.2023; 

vii) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-00-DR-AR-240001 P1 (Main Hub Building- Ground 
Floor Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

viii) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-01-DR-AR-240002 P1 (Main Hub Building- First 
Floor Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

ix) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-02-DR-AR-240003 P1 (Main Hub Building- Second 
Floor Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

x) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-03-DR-AR-240004 P1 (Main Hub Building- Roof 
Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

xi) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-XX-DR-AR-240006 P2 (Main Hub Building- 
Elevations- North and South) received on 26.03.2024; 

xii) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-XX-DR-AR-240007 P2 (Main Hub Building- 
Elevations- East and West) received on 26.03.2024; 

xiii) Drawing CAER-ATK- MB-XX-DR-AR-240008 P2 (Main Hub Building- 
Sections) received on 26.03.2024; 

xiv) Drawing CAER-ATK-GG-00-DR-AR-240001 P1 (Garage Ground Floor Plan) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xv) Drawing CAER-ATK-GG-01-DR-AR-240002 P1 (Garage First Floor Plan) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xvi) Drawing CAER-ATK-GG-02-DR-AR-240003 P1 (Garage Roof Plan) received 
on 22.12.2023; 

xvii) Drawing CAER-ATK-GG-XX-DR-AR-240004 P1 (Garage Elevations) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xviii) Drawing CAER-ATK-GG-XX-DR-AR-240005 P1 (Garage Sections) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xix) Drawing CAER-ATK-GH-00-DR-AR-240001 P1 (Reception Ground Floor 
Plan) received on 22.12.2023; 

xx) Drawing CAER-ATK-GH-01-DR-AR-240002 P1 (Reception Roof Plan) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xxi) Drawing CAER-ATK-GH-XX-DR-AR-240003 P1 (Reception Elevations) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

xxii) Drawing CAER-ATK-GH-XX-DR-AR-240004 P1 (Reception Sections) 
received on 22.12.2023; 

Page 53



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

xxiii) Drawing CAER-ATK-MB-XX-DR-AR-240009 P2 (Plant Compound, 
Ancillary Buildings and Canopies- Plans and Elevations) received on 
08.01.2024; 

xxiv) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-DR-AR-230005 P2 (Site Section- 
Proposed) received on 26.03.2024; 

xxv) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-401100 P09 (Rendered Proposal) 
received on 02.04.2024; 

xxvi) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-403001 P05 (Landscape Site 
Sections (Sheet 1 of 2)) received on 26.03.2024; 

xxvii) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-403002 P05 (Landscape Site 
Sections (Sheet 2 of 2)) received on 26.03.2024; 

xxviii) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-481001 P05 (Tree Protection Plan 
(Sheet 1 of 2)) received on 02.04.2024; 

xxix) Drawing CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-481002 P05 (Tree Protection Plan 
(Sheet 2 of 2)) received on 02.04.2024; 

xxx) Arboricultural Impact Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-EV-
020043 P02) received on 22.12.2023; 

xxxi) Email: Additional Arboricultural Information received on 04.03.2024 
xxxii) Flood Risk Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-CE-010020) 

received on 02.04.2024; 
xxxiii) Ecological Impact Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-EV-020041) 

received on 22.12.2023; 
xxxiv) Biodiversity Net Gain Report (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-EV-020040) 

received on 09.02.2024; 
xxxv) Minerals Resource Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-GE-020042 

P02) received on 19.01.2024; 
xxxvi) Contaminated Land Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-XX-RP-GE-

000012) received on 08.01.2024. 
 
Reason:   For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
 

3. Pre-commencement: Site levels – full site survey 

No development shall take place until the following information shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority: 
(a) A full site survey showing: the datum used to calibrate the site levels; levels 
along all site boundaries; levels across the site at regular intervals and floor levels of 
adjoining buildings;  
(b) Full details of the proposed site levels, finished floor levels of all buildings 
and hard landscaped surfaces. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the changes to the site levels and heights of the buildings 
would be acceptable in terms of visual impact to the rural character of the area and 
the relationship with the adjoining Colthrop Industrial Estate. This condition is 
imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies 
CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-
commencement condition is required because changes to site levels will happen 
throughout the construction phase. 
 

4. Pre-commencement: Spoil and imported materials 

No development shall take place until details of how all spoil arising from the 
development and any imported material required for the development will be used 
and/or disposed have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These details shall: 
(a) Show where any spoil to remain on site or imported material will be 
deposited; 

Page 54



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

(b) Show the resultant ground levels for spoil and imported material deposited 
on the site (compared to existing ground levels); 
(c) Include measures to remove all spoil or leftover imported material from the 
site (that is not to be deposited); 
(d) Include timescales for the depositing/removal of spoil and leftover imported 
material. 
  
All spoil arising from the development and imported material shall be used and/or 
disposed of in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:   To ensure appropriate disposal of spoil from the development and to 
ensure that changes in ground levels protect the character and amenity of the area.  
This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, and Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 
2006-2026.  A pre-commencement condition is required because spoil and imported 
material may arise throughout development. 
 

5. Pre-commencement: Construction Method Statement 

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter the demolition and construction works shall incorporate and be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved CMS.  The CMS shall include 
measures for: 

(a) A site set-up plan during the works; 
(b) Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
(d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(e) Erection and maintenance of security hoarding including any decorative 

displays and/or facilities for public viewing; 
(f) Temporary hardstanding; 
(g) Wheel washing facilities; 
(h) Measures to control dust, dirt, noise, vibrations, odours, surface water run-

off, and pests/vermin during construction; 
(i) The proposed method of piling for foundations (if any) 
(j) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works; 
(k) Hours of construction work; 
(l) Hours of deliveries and preferred haulage routes; 

 
Reason:   To safeguard the amenity of adjoining land uses and occupiers, and in the 
interests of highway safety.  This condition is applied in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire 
Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policies OVS.5, OVS.6 and TRANS.1 of the West 
Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007).  A pre-
commencement condition is required because the CMS must be adhered to during 
all demolition and construction operations. 
 

6. Pre-commencement: Construction access 

No development shall take place until details of site access for use during all 
construction activities has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The details shall include: 

(a) A plan showing the layout, surfacing arrangements, visibility splays, and any 
adjoining gates and means of enclosure; 

(b) Height above carriageway level to be kept free of all obstructions for the 
visibility splays; 

(c) Details of any banksman arrangements. 
 

Page 55



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Thereafter (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) no 
demolition and/or construction activities other than those directly related and 
necessary to construct the access(es) shall take place until the construction of the 
access(es) has been completed in accordance with the approved details.  The 
access(es) shall be maintained in their approved condition, and any banksman and 
wheel washing arrangements shall be implemented, at all times during demolition 
and/or construction activities.  Visibility splays shall be kept free of all obstructions to 
visibility above the agreed height of the carriageway level at all times. 
 
Reason:   To ensure that safe access arrangements are provided and maintained 
during all demolition/construction activities, in the interests of highway safety.  This 
condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026.  A pre-
commencement condition is necessary because the access(es) must be provided at 
the start of the demolition/construction phase. 
 

7. Pre-commencement: Arboricultural Method Statement 

No development or other operations shall commence on site until an arboricultural 
method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall include details of the implementation, supervision and 
monitoring of: 

 all temporary tree protection (including ground protection) 

 and any special construction works within any defined tree protection area 
(with particular consideration of tree T002 Oak). 

 
The construction of the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the retention and protection of trees identified at the site in 
accordance with the NPPF and Policies ADPP1, CS14, CS17 and CS19 of the West 
Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-commencement condition is necessary 
because insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; tree 
protection installation, other measures and works may be required to be undertaken 
throughout the construction phase and so it is necessary to approve these details 
before any development takes place. 
 

8. Pre-commencement: Drainage Strategy 

No development shall take place until details of sustainable drainage measures to 
manage surface water within the site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
These details shall: 
a) Incorporate the implementation of Sustainable Drainage methods (SuDS) in 
accordance with the approved details, Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS 
(2015), the SuDS Manual C753 (2015) and the WBC SuDS Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018) with particular emphasis on Green SuDS; 
b) Include details of how the existing flow paths will be sustained or mitigated; 
c) Include flood water exceedance routes (low flow, overflow and exceedance 
routes), both on and off site;  
d) Include an assessment of the catchments and flows discharging into and 
across the site and how these flows will be managed and routed through the 
development and, where the flows exit the site, both pre-development and post-
development information must be provided; 
e) Include an up to date drainage strategy for surface water run-off within the 
site taking into account any changes made during detailed design;  
f) Include attenuation measures to retain rainfall run-off within the site and 
allow discharge from the site to an existing watercourse at no greater than 1 in 1 
year Greenfield run-off rates; 

Page 56



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

g) Include run-off calculations based on current rainfall data models, discharge 
rates (based on 1 in 1 year greenfield run-off rates), and storage capacity 
calculations for the proposed SuDS measures based on a 1 in 100 year storm +40% 
for climate change; 
h) Include with any design calculations an allowance for an additional 10% 
increase of paved areas where reasonable (Urban Creep) over the lifetime of the 
development; 
i) Include construction drawings, cross-sections and specifications of all 
proposed SuDS measures within the site; 
j) Include pre-treatment methods to prevent any pollution or silt entering SuDS 
features or causing any contamination to the watercourse; 
k) Ensure permeable paved areas are designed and constructed in accordance 
with manufacturers guidelines if using a proprietary porous paved block system; 
otherwise ensure any permeable areas are constructed on a permeable sub-base 
material, such as MoT/DoT Type 3; 
l) Include a management and maintenance plan showing how the SuDS 
measures will be maintained and managed after completion for the lifetime of the 
development.  This plan shall incorporate arrangements for adoption by the Council, 
Water and Sewage Undertaker, Maintenance or Management Company (private 
company or Trust) or individual property owners, or any other arrangements, 
including maintenance responsibilities resting with individual property owners, to 
secure the operation of the sustainable drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 
These details shall be provided as part of a handover pack for subsequent 
purchasers and owners of the property/premises; 
m) Include an easement to ensure that access to the culvert to the north of the 
site is maintained at all times;  
n) Include details of how surface water will be managed and contained within 
the site during construction works to prevent silt migration and pollution of 
watercourses, highway drainage and land either on or adjacent to the site; 
o) Include an Application for an Ordinary Watercourse Consent in case of 
surface water discharge into a watercourse (i.e stream, ditch etc); 
p) Provide evidence that the culverting of the former watercourse to the west of 
the site has consent if no amendments are made, or seek new ordinary watercourse 
consent as per o) above; 
 
The above sustainable drainage measures shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details before the use hereby permitted is commenced in accordance 
with a timetable to be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority as part of the details submitted for this condition.  The sustainable 
drainage measures shall be maintained and managed in accordance with the 
approved details thereafter. 
 
Reason:   To ensure that surface water will be managed in a sustainable manner; to 
prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect water quality, habitat 
and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system 
can be and is carried out in an appropriate and efficient manner.  This condition is 
applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS16 of 
the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Part 4 of Supplementary Planning 
Document Quality Design (June 2006) and SuDS Supplementary Planning 
Document (Dec 2018).  A pre-commencement condition is necessary because 
insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; sustainable drainage 
measures may require work to be undertaken throughout the construction phase 
and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place. 
 

9. Pre-commencement: Channel capacity 

No development shall take place until evidence demonstrating that the channel 
facilitating flow from Ouzels Gully within the site extent has sufficient capacity to 

Page 57



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

accommodate flow from the upstream associated catchment area (equivalent to the 
flow at the inlet to the culvert under the A4), or that improvements can be made to 
the existing channel to facilitate the equivalent flow.  Evidence should be supported 
by a hydraulic assessment sufficient in scope to determine appropriate design flow 
rates. Where improvements are required to the existing channel these shall be 
implemented in accordance with details first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and implemented in accordance with a timetable agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason:   To ensure that surface water will be managed in a sustainable manner; to 
prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect water quality, habitat 
and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system 
can be and is carried out in an appropriate and efficient manner.  This condition is 
applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS16 of 
the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Part 4 of Supplementary Planning 
Document Quality Design (June 2006) and SuDS Supplementary Planning 
Document (Dec 2018).  A pre-commencement condition is necessary because 
insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; sustainable drainage 
measures may require work to be undertaken throughout the construction phase 
and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place. 
 

10. Pre-commencement: Construction Environmental Management Plan 

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP 
shall include the following: 
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
(b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) 
to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 
statements) referring to section 4.5 of the Ecological impact assessment (CAER-
ATK-XX-XX-RP-EV-020041, December 2023) and CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-481001 
P05 and CAER-ATK-XX-XX-D-L-481002 P05 Tree protection plan- Sheets 1 and 2;.  
(d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features.  
(e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present 
on site to oversee works.  
(f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
(g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 
or similarly competent person.  
(h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity assets 
during the construction phase. This condition is applied in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core 
Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-commencement condition is required because the CEMP 
will need to be adhered to throughout construction. 
 

11. Pre-commencement: Ecological enhancements 
No development shall take place until details of biodiversity enhancement measures 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Measures shall be informed by the Ecological Impact Assessment (CAER-ATK-XX-
XX-RP-EV-020041, December 2023) and the Biodiversity Net Gain Report (CAER-

Page 58



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

ATK-XX-XX-RP-EV-020040, January 2024). Thereafter, no building shall be 
occupied until the measures have been implemented in accordance with the 
approved detail. 
 

Reason: To ensure biodiversity enhancements are incorporated into the 
development.  This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and Policy CS17 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026. 
 

12. Pre-commencement: Details of primary access layout 

No development hereby permitted shall commence until details of the primary 
access layout to the spur road off Gables Way have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include 
arrangements where the carriageway narrows to 3.5 metres and the interaction with 
the 1.5 metre wide footway. The development shall not be first brought into use until 
the primary access layout has been provided in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter kept available for access and egress to the site.   
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety to provide suitable access arrangements 
for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 
 

13. Pre-commencement: Footways into the site 

No development shall take place until details of a footway (including street furniture) 
from the primary access to the main building entrance has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The building shall not be occupied until 
the footway has been provided in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interest of road safety and to ensure adequate and unobstructed 
provision for pedestrians into the site. This condition is imposed in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire 
Core Strategy (2006-2026). A pre-commencement condition is necessary where 
access and egress arrangements to and from the site needs to be established at the 
early stages of development and before any development works which may 
subsequently prevent such access and egress. 
 

14. Pre-commencement: Swept path for large vehicles 

No development shall commence until swept path analysis for delivery vehicles for 
the primary access to the spur road off Gables Way has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
first brought into use until the swept paths have been provided in accordance with 
the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety to ensure delivery vehicles can enter and 
exit the site in a forward gear in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-
commencement condition is necessary where access and egress arrangements to 
the site needs to be established at the early stages of development and before any 
development works which may subsequently prevent such access and egress.  
 

15. Pre-commencement: Great Crested Newts District Licence (No.2) 

No development hereby permitted shall take place unless and until a certificate from 
the Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-OR137, or a ‘Further 
Licence’), confirming that all necessary measures regarding great crested newt 
compensation have been appropriately dealt with, has been submitted to and 
approved by the planning authority and the authority has provided authorisation for 
the development to proceed under the district newt licence. The delivery partner 

Page 59



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

certificate must be submitted to this planning authority for approval prior to the 
commencement of the development hereby approved.   
 
Reason: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested 
newts, and in line with section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. A 
pre-commencement condition is required is required because mitigation measures 
are required to be adhered to throughout construction phase.  
 

16. Great Crested Newts District Licence (No.1) 

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the Council’s Organisational Licence (WML-OR137, or a 
‘Further Licence’) and with the proposals detailed on plan “Land Adjacent to the East 
of Colthrop Industrial Estate: Impact plan for great crested newt District Licensing 
(Version 1)”, dated 23rd April 2024.   
 
Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are 
adequately mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance 
with the Organisational Licence (WML OR137, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.   
 

17. Great Crested Newts District Licence (No.3) 

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with Part 1 
of the Great Crested Newt Mitigation Principles, as set out in the District Licence 
(WML-OR137, or a ‘Further Licence’) and in addition in compliance with the 
following:  
 

 Works which will affect likely newt hibernacula may only be undertaken 
during the active period for amphibians.  

 Capture methods must be used at suitable habitat features prior to the 
commencement of the development (i.e., hand/destructive/night searches), 
which may include the use of temporary amphibian fencing, to prevent newts 
moving onto a development site from adjacent suitable habitat, installed for 
the period of the development (and removed upon completion of the 
development).  

 
Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are 
adequately mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance 
with the Organisational Licence (WML OR137, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.  
 

18. Tree protection (in accordance) 

All Tree Protective Fencing shall be erected prior to groundworks taking place in 
accordance with the submitted Tree Protection plans (reference Atkins drawing 
numbers 5205252-ATK-ARB-TPP-401002 and 401003 rev P03 dated Nov 2023). 
The protective fencing shall be implemented and retained intact for the duration of 
the development. Within the fenced area(s), there shall be no excavations, storage 
or mixing of materials, storage of machinery, parking of vehicles or fires. 
 
Reason: Required to safeguard and to enhance the setting within the immediate 
locality to ensure the protection and retention of existing trees and natural features 
during the construction phase in accordance with the NPPF and Policies ADPP1, 
CS14, CS17 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 
 
 

Page 60



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

19. Schedule of materials (prior approval) 
The construction above ground level of the hereby approved buildings shall not 
commence until a schedule of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the buildings hereby permitted, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Samples of materials shall be 
made available where possible upon request.  Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:   To ensure that the external materials respect the character and 
appearance of the area.  This condition is applied in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire 
Core Strategy (2006-2026). 
 

20. Carbon reduction measures for regulated and unregulated energy 

Wording to be agreed and provided within update report. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to sustainable construction.  This 
condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policy CS15 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Supplementary 
Planning Document Quality Design (June 2006). 
 

21. Surfacing of access (prior approval) 

No vehicular accesses to the highway shall be constructed until details of the 
surfacing arrangements have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall ensure that bonded material is used 
across the entire width of the accesses for a distance of 3 metres measured back 
from the carriageway edge.  Thereafter the accesses shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the hereby approved 
development. 
 
Reason:   To avoid migration of loose material onto the highway in the interest of 
road safety.  This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026. 
 

22. Unforeseen land contamination 

Should any unforeseen contamination be encountered during the development, the 
developer shall inform the Local Planning Authority immediately. Any subsequent 
investigation/remedial/protective works deemed necessary by the LPA shall be 
carried out to agreed timescales submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA in 
writing. If no contamination is encountered during the development, a letter 
confirming this fact shall be submitted to the LPA upon completion of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To protect future occupiers and users of the site from the harmful effects of 
contamination. This condition is applied in accordance with Policy CS14 of the West 
Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy OVS5 of the West Berkshire Local 
Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 
 

23. Renewable energy 

The hereby approved development shall not be occupied until details of renewable 
energy measures have been installed in accordance with details that have first been 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to sustainable construction and it 
would not have a harmful impact on amenity. This condition is applied in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS15 of the West 

Page 61



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Supplementary Planning Document 
Quality Design (June 2006). 
 

24. Landscape Ecological Management Plan 

Prior to the occupation of the development a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) (also referred to as a Habitat or Biodiversity Management 
Plan) has been submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following: 

(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.  
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.  
(c) Aims and objectives of management.  
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.  
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.  
(f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of 

being rolled forward over a five-year period).  
(g) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  

 

The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies 
and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the 
development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the approved 
scheme. 
 
The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity assets of 
the site. This condition is applied in accordance with Policy CS14 and CS17 of the 
West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 
 

25. Hard and soft landscaping scheme (details to be submitted) 

The buildings shall not be occupied until a detailed soft and hard landscaping 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The soft landscaping scheme shall include: 

 A scaled plan showing all existing vegetation and landscape features to be 
retained and trees and plants to be planted; 

 location, type and materials to be used for hard landscaping including 
specifications, where applicable for: 

o permeable paving 
o tree pit design 
o underground modular systems 
o Sustainable urban drainage integration 
o use within tree Root Protection Areas (RPAs); 

 a schedule detailing sizes and numbers/densities of all proposed 
trees/plants; 

 specifications for operations associated with plant establishment and 
maintenance that are compliant with best practise; 

 
All soft and hard landscaping works shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved hard and soft landscaping scheme within the first planting season 
following completion of building operations or first occupation of the buildings 
(whichever occurs first).  Any trees, shrubs, plants or hedges planted in accordance 
with the approved scheme which are removed, die, or become diseased or become 
seriously damaged within five years of completion of this completion of the approved 
soft landscaping scheme shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees, 
shrubs or hedges of a similar size and species to that originally approved. 
 

Page 62



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Reason:   Landscaping is an integral element of achieving high quality design.  This 
condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policies CS14, CS17 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, 
and the Quality Design SPD. 
 

26. Visibility splays provision 

The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until achievable 
visibility splays have been provided in both directions at the new accesses onto the 
A4 in accordance with details which have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Visibility splays shall be kept free of all 
obstructions to visibility above the agreed height of the carriageway level at all times. 
 
Reason:   To ensure there is adequate visibility at the access, in the interests of 
highway safety.  This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026. 
 

27. Travel plan 

Prior to occupation a Travel Plan is required to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall be implemented from 
the development first being brought into use. It should be reviewed and updated if 
necessary within 6 months of first implementation. After that the Travel Plan shall be 
annually reviewed and updated and all reasonable practicable steps made to 
achieve the agreed targets and measures within the timescales set out in the plan 
and any subsequent revisions. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the development reduces reliance on private motor vehicles and 
provides the appropriate level of vehicle parking.  This condition is imposed in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies ADPP1, CS5, 
CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Policy TRANS1 of the West 
Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 
 

28. Parking (approved plans) 

The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until vehicle parking 
has been provided completed in accordance with the approved plans (including any 
surfacing arrangements and marking out).  Thereafter the parking shall be kept 
available for parking and manoeuvring at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is provided with adequate parking facilities, in 
order to reduce the likelihood of roadside parking that would adversely affect road 
safety and the flow of traffic.  This condition is applied in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core 
Strategy 2006-2026. 
 

29. Cycle parking/storage (approved plans) 

The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until cycle 
parking/storage facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved 
drawings.  Thereafter the facilities shall be maintained and kept available for that 
purpose at all times. 
 
Reason:   To ensure the provision of cycle parking/storage facilities in order to 
encourage the use of cycles and reduce reliance on private motor vehicles.  This 
condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

30. Electric vehicle charging points (prior approval) 
The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until electric vehicle 
charging points have been provided in accordance with details that have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, 
the charging points shall be maintained, and kept available and operational for 
electric vehicles at all times. 
 
Reason:   To secure the provision of charging points to encourage the use of electric 
vehicles.  This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and 
Policy P1 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 2006-2026. 
 

31. Lighting strategy 

No external lighting shall be installed until a lighting strategy has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall include 
isolux contour diagram(s) and an operation strategy (e.g. details of timed operation). 
 
No external lighting shall be installed on the application site except in accordance 
with the above strategy. Any lighting, which is so installed, shall not thereafter be 
altered without the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority other than 
for routine maintenance that does not change its details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity assets of 
the site and to protect the amenity of adjoining land users.  This condition is applied 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies CS14 and 
CS17 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026 and Saved Policy OVS.5 of 
the West Berkshire District Local Plan (Saved Policies 2007). 
 

32. Plant, machinery and equipment 

All plant, machinery and equipment installed or operated in connection with the 
operation of this permission shall be so enclosed and/or attenuated that noise 
therefrom does not exceed at any time a level of 5dB[A] below the existing 
background noise level, or 10dB[A] if there is a particular tonal quality when 
measured in accordance with BS4142:2014 at a point one metre external to the 
nearest residential or noise sensitive property  
 
Reason:  To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from noise.  This 
condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), and Policies OVS.5 
and OVS.6 of the West Berkshire Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). 
 

33. Use restriction 

The development hereby permitted shall be used only for purposes under Use Class 
E(g) and for no other purpose (including any purpose in Class E of the Schedule to 
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or in any 
provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification. 
 
Reason: A different use in Use Class E may not accord with the spatial strategy for 
the district nor compliment the uses of the immediately adjacent Colthrop Industrial 
Estate Protected Employment Area. This condition is applied in accordance with the 
NPPF and Policies ADPP1, ADPP6, ADPP3 and CS9 of the West Berkshire Core 
Strategy (2006-2026). 
 

34. Emergency use restriction of secondary access 

Wording to be agreed and provided within update report. 
 

Page 64



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. The secondary access onto the A4 does 
not meet adequate visibility splay standards to be safely used other than in the event 
of an emergency. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-
2026. 

 

Informatives 

1. Proactive 

This decision has been made in a positive way to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development having regard to Development Plan policies and available guidance to 
secure high quality appropriate development.  In this application whilst there has 
been a need to balance conflicting considerations, the local planning authority has 
worked proactively with the applicant to secure and accept what is considered to be 
a development which improves the economic, social and environmental conditions 
of the area. 
 

2. Pre-conditions 

Conditions nos. 3-15 impose requirements which must be met prior to 
commencement of the development.  Failure to observe these requirements could 
result in the Council taking enforcement action, or may invalidate the planning 
permission and render the whole of the development unlawful. 
 

3. Tree Protection & Landscaping 

The following British Standards should be referred to: 
a. BS: 3882:2015 Specification for topsoil 
b. BS: 3936-1:1992 Nursery Stock - Part 1: Specification for trees and shrubs 
c. BS: 3998:2010 Tree work – Recommendations 
d. BS: 4428:1989 Code of practice for general landscaping operations (excluding 

hard surfaces) 
e. BS: 4043:1989 Recommendations for Transplanting root-balled trees 
f. BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction - 

Recommendations 
g. BS: 7370-4:1993 Grounds maintenance part 4. Recommendations for 
h. maintenance of soft landscape (other than amenity turf). 
i. BS: 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape –

Recommendations  
j. BS: 8601:2013 Specification for subsoil and requirements for use. 

 
4. Environment Agency Permit 

Importation of material to a site can require an Environment Agency permit. The 
applicant should seek advice from the Environment Agency and obtain relevant 
permit or exemption, if required, prior to importation of material to the site. 
 

5. Great Crested Newts District Licence (1) 

It is recommended that the NatureSpace Best Practice Principles are considered 
and implemented where possible and appropriate. 
 

6. Great Crested Newts District Licence (2) 

It is recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning 
authority at least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on 
site. 
 

7. Great Crested Newts District Licence (3) 

It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site 
(including ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior to 

Page 65



 

 

West Berkshire Council Eastern Area Planning Committee 8th May 2024 

receipt of the written authorisation from the planning authority which permits the 
development to proceed under the District Licence (WML-OR137, or a ‘Further 
Licence’) are not licensed under the great crested newt District Licence. Any such 
works or activities have no legal protection under the great crested newt District 
Licence and if offences against great crested newts are thereby committed then 
criminal investigation and prosecution by the police may follow. 
 

8. Great Crested Newts District Licence (4) 

It is essential to note that any ground investigations, site preparatory works and 
ground / vegetation clearance works / activities (where not constituting development 
under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) in a red zone site authorised under 
the District Licence but which fail to respect controls equivalent to those detailed in 
the planning condition above which refers to the NatureSpace great crested newt 
mitigation principles would give rise to separate criminal liability under the District 
Licence,  requiring authorised developers to comply with the District Licence and (in 
certain cases) with the GCN Mitigation Principles (for which Natural England is the 
enforcing authority); and may also give rise to criminal liability under the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (for which the Police would be the 
enforcing authority). 

 

Page 66



Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission
of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
Copyright 2003.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings .

SLA Number

Organisation

Department

Comments

Date

Scale :Map Centre Coordinates :

0100024151

West Berkshire Council

25 April 2024

1:13282

23/02965/FULMAJ

Land East Of Goddards Road and 2 Gables Way, Thatcham, RG19 4ZB

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	2. Minutes - EAPC (6 March 2024)
	Minutes


	4.(1) Application No. and Parish: 23/02965/FULMAJ, Midgham
	4(1)a. 23_02965_FULMAJ Map


